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Chairman’s 
Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of the Company (the “Directors”, each on “Director”), I announce 
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2018 
(the “Year”).

In the past Year, the retail market in Hong Kong experienced a progressive improvement. However, selling and 
distribution expenses as well as property rental and related expenses had increased, which has presented certain 
challenges to the Group’s results. The PRC market benefitted from rising purchasing power amongst the general 
population, and the revenue from the Group’s branches in Mainland China also correspondingly increased. After 
carefully examining the current regional market environment as well as the global economy, management actively 
adjusted the Group’s development strategies in order to seize growth in the food services sector both locally and 
overseas.

In the past Year, based on its solid business foundation, the Group has further established new revenue streams by 
actively developing its new brands so as to achieve economies of scale in its operations and accelerate the Group’s 
penetration rate in the relevant markets. During the Year, the Group launched two new self-developed brands, 
namely “BEAT Bakery”, a bakery that uses flour imported from Japan with healthy eating as its core theme, and 
Nijuuichi Don (廿一堂), featuring Japanese fast-food. The Group has recently opened a new restaurant, Maomao Eat 
(輕。快翠), mainly serving authentic Hong Kong style snacks in the Tai Kwun Centre for Heritage and Arts, which is 
located in Central, Hong Kong. Maomao Eat also incorporates vegetarian elements in its menu by partnering with 
Green Monday, a non-profit organisation that promotes a  healthy diet and sustainable living.

During the Year, the Group opened a total of eight new branches in Hong Kong and Mainland China under the brand 
of “Tsui Wah”. Three were located in Eastern China (namely the Shanghai Lilacs Commerce Centre branch, Shanghai 
Changning Raffles City branch and Shanghai Vivo City branch, respectively) and three were located in Southern China 
(namely the Shenzhen Bao’an-uniwalk branch, Zhongshan Hai Gang Cheng branch and Guangzhou Huangsha 
branch, respectively). As at 31 March 2018, the Group operated a total of 70 branches. These included 68 restaurants 
that were owned by the Group and operated under the brand of “Tsui Wah”, of which 31, 34 and three were 
respectively located in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Macau.

In addition to the expansion of its restaurant network, the Group’s “Supreme Catering” (至尊到會) business and “Tsui 
Wah Delivery” (快翠送) services have been steadily growing. We believe that Supreme Catering and Tsui Wah 
Delivery will help us further penetrate the market to attract younger customers and further diversify the Group’s 
business. The Group has been progressively introducing AliPay (支付寶) and WeChat Pay (微信支付), in order to align 
with global e-payment trends as well as provide more convenient services to its customers.

The Group has built a strong brand in Hong Kong and has been striving to promote Hong Kong-style food and 
culture globally. The Group was pleased to establish a strategic partnership with Jumbo Group Limited in Singapore, 
to open and operate a Hong Kong style Cha Chaan Teng under the brand of “Tsui Wah”. This restaurant commenced 
operations in mid-June 2018. Leveraging on Jumbo’s strong presence in Singapore, the Group is confident that this 
joint venture will be successful and will enable “Tsui Wah” and its products to establish an excellent international 
reputation among the 5.6 million residents living in Singapore.
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Our commitment to excellence in providing high quality food and catering services to our customers has been widely 
acknowledged and it is our honour to receive the following awards and accreditations during the Year:

•	 Hong	Kong	Tourism	Board’s	“Outstanding	QTS	Merchant	Service	Staff	Award	2017	(Front-line	Staff)	—	Chinese	
Cuisine Silver Award”;

•	 Weekend	Weekly	Magazine’s	“2017	Best	Ever	Dining	Awards	—	Best	Cha Chaan Teng”;

•	 South	China	Morning	Post’s	“Enterprising	Hong	Kong	Brand	Awards	—	2017	Best	Hong	Kong	Travel	and	
Hospitality	Brand	(Publicly-listed	Company)	—	Special	Commendation”;

•	 World	Green	Organisation’s	“Green	Office	Award”	and	“2017	Sustainable	Business	Award”;

•	 Federation	of	Hong	Kong	 Industries	and	Bank	of	China	 (Hong	Kong)’s	“BOCHK	Corporate	Environmental	
Leadership Award 2016”;

•	 The	International	Food	Safety	Association’s	“Food	Safety	Excellence	Award	2017“;

•	 Economic	Digest’s	“Hong	Kong	Outstanding	Enterprises	2017”;	and

•	 Job	Market	and	Sing	Tao	News	Group’s	“Employer	of	Choice	Award	2017”.

The year 2017 has been a remarkable and challenging year for us. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on 
revenue growth and cost control. The Group will also strengthen its marketing efforts to attract customers across all 
sectors of society as well as consolidate its brand positioning in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China by 
accelerating its business expansion beyond Hong Kong to other markets, especially in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Greater Bay Area. Meanwhile, the Group will also explore new markets with its new brands in order to increase 
its market share.

Last but not least, on behalf of my fellow Directors and all the staff of the Group, we would like to take this 
opportunity to express our heartfelt gratitude to our customers, shareholders, suppliers and business partners for 
their long term support and confidence in Tsui Wah. We shall continue to work harder as a token of our appreciation 
for the encouragement and support we have received from native Chinese people as well as foreign residents, who 
have continuously been enjoying the Group’s meals and services for more than 50 years.

Lee Yuen Hong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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and Analysis

Hong Kong,
Nijuuichi Don
PopWalk Branch

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the Year, the Group continued to organically implement its restaurant expansion business plan by opening a 
total of eight new branches across Hong Kong and Mainland China. In Mainland China, the Group opened six new 
restaurants across Eastern and Southern China. The locations of the newly opened restaurants were chosen largely 
because they were situated in an area with higher customer traffic as well as other commercial considerations such as 
more favourable rental costs and convenience for customers. The Group also operated two new self-developed 
brands, namely “Nijuuichi Don (廿一堂)” which is a fast food restaurant that predominantly serves Japanese fast-food, 
and BEAT Bakery which is a bakery that uses flour imported from Japan with healthy eating as its core theme.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group operated 31 restaurants in Hong Kong, 34 restaurants in Mainland China, and three 
restaurants in Macau under the “Tsui Wah” brand, as well as branches under two sub-brands “Nijuuichi Don” and 
“BEAT Bakery” in Hong Kong. In total, the Group has 70 branches under its operation within these three jurisdictions. 
The Group will continue to adhere to a prudent and commercially viable strategy in respect of its site selection for the 
opening of new restaurants.

The industry continued to be challenged by substantially rising costs in raw ingredients, rent and labour. In order to 
maintain competitiveness, the Group has striven to implement and maintain a range of cost and expense control 
measures to stabilise the overall operating efficiencies. The continued use of centralised kitchens served to decrease 
the costs associated with food processing and streamlined the procurement and supply chain management, which 
sustained operational efficiency and enabled the gross profit margin of the Group to remain stable at 72.1% for the 
Year compared with that of 72.3% for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Year 2017”). The Group’s net profit 
margin (profit for the year as a percentage of revenue) recorded a decrease from approximately 4.9% for the Year 
2017 to approximately 4.4% for the Year, which was mainly attributable to an increase in sales and delivery costs, 
property rentals as well as initial start-up costs incurred by the opening of new restaurants.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group slightly decreased by approximately 0.3% from approximately HK$1,845.4 million for the 
Year 2017 to approximately HK$1,839.8 million for the Year. Although same store sales in Hong Kong recorded an 
increment during the Year as compared to previous year, revenue within the region generally dropped, owing to the 
closure of certain restaurants when leases expired during the Year 2017 and the Year.

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of inventories sold slightly increased by approximately HK$0.3 million, or approximately 0.06%, from 
approximately HK$512.1 million for the Year 2017 to approximately HK$512.4 million for the Year. The cost of 
inventories sold amounted to approximately 27.7% and 27.9% of the Group’s revenue for the Year 2017 and the Year, 
respectively. The ratio of the cost of inventories sold in proportion to the Group’s revenue for the Year remained 
rather stable as compared to the Year 2017, mainly attributable to various cost control measures on procurement 
adopted by the Group including, amongst others, a bulk procurement policy, more stringent control on the food 
preparation process and optimising the use of centralised kitchens.

Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit (which is equivalent to revenue subtracting the cost of inventories sold) for the Year was 
approximately HK$1,327.4 million, representing a slight decrease of approximately 0.4% from approximately 
HK$1,333.3 million for the Year 2017. The slight decrease in gross profit corresponded with the decrease in revenue, 
mainly due to a decrease in sales as a result of the closure of certain branches in Hong Kong during the Year 2017. 
The gross profit margin for the Year remained stable as compared to Year 2017.

Hong Kong,
BEAT Bakery
Tsim Sha Tsui Branch
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Human resources and remuneration policy
As at 31 March 2018, the Group (other than its joint ventures) employed 4,153 employees (2017: approximately 4,280). 
The Group’s staff costs decreased by approximately HK$0.1 million, from approximately HK$531.1 million for the Year 
2017 to approximately HK$531.0 million for the Year. The decrease was attributable to the improved control of labour 
costs.

The Group understands the importance of recruiting the right personnel and retaining experienced staff in the highly 
competitive labour market in order to maintain its operations and uphold its well-established standard of high-quality 
services across all of its restaurants. Staff costs as a percentage of the Group’s revenue amounted to approximately 
28.9% for the Year as compared to 28.8% for the Year 2017.

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market norms, individual qualifications and relevant 
experience. The Group periodically reviews the remuneration of its employees and continued to implement slight 
increments to the base salary of its staff during the Year in line with the Group’s historical practices.

Further, the Company adopted its pre-IPO share option scheme on 5 November 2012 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme”), where certain Directors, executives and employees of the Group (the “Eligible Employees”) were entitled 
to share options to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) as a reward for recognising the 
contribution of such Eligible Employees. Options comprising 26,800,054 underlying Shares granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme lapsed on 25 November 2017. As at 31 March 2018, no options (2017: options comprising 
approximately 26,800,000 underlying Shares) were outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and no share 
options were exercised during the Year.

In addition, the Company adopted its share option scheme on 5 November 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”), 
where certain eligible persons whose contributions have been beneficial to the performance, growth or success of 
the Group would be awarded a personal stake in the Company. Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no 
options have been granted. As at 31 March 2018, no share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme 
and no options were exercised or lapsed during the Year.

Property rentals and related expenses
Property rentals and related expenses increased by approximately HK$23.2 million, or approximately 7.4%, from 
approximately HK$315.3 million for the Year 2017 to approximately HK$338.5 million for the Year. The increase was 
primarily attributable to (i) the commencement of leases for the respective newly opened restaurants during the Year 
and (ii) increases in rent for the renewed leases of certain existing restaurants. In order to ensure a better control of 
the cost from property rentals and related expenses, the Group negotiated rental agreements with longer lease 
terms with an average of at least three years, to maintain commercially stable rental costs.

Selling and distribution expenses
The selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately HK$11.0 million or approximately 35.7% from 
approximately HK$30.8 million for the Year 2017 to approximately HK$41.8 million for the Year. The increase was 
mainly due to a series of brand and marketing promotion during the Year and the increases in transportation and 
sales related costs during the Year.

Share of profits from joint ventures
The share of profits from joint ventures amounted to approximately HK$39.4 million for the Year, representing an 
increase of approximately HK$7.5 million, or approximately 23.5% from approximately HK$31.9 million for the Year 
2017. The increase was primary due to better performance of the joint ventures and a more favourable 
macroeconomic environment in Macau, as the number of tourists increased and thereby stimulated revenue in the 
food catering industry.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense decreased by approximately HK$11.3 million, or approximately 30.3%, from approximately 
HK$37.3 million for the Year 2017 to approximately HK$26.0 million for the Year.
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Profit
Primarily due to the increases in the above-mentioned selling and distribution expenses as well as property rentals 
and related expenses, the profit for the Year decreased by approximately HK$9.9 million, or approximately 10.9%, 
from approximately HK$90.7 million for the Year 2017 to approximately HK$80.8 million for the Year.

Liquidity and financial resources
The Group financed its business with internally generated cash flows and the proceeds received from the initial listing 
of the issued Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 26 November 2012 (the “Listing”). As at 31 March 
2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents amounting to approximately HK$510.0 million, representing an 
increase of approximately HK$13.4 million from approximately HK$496.6 million as at 31 March 2017. Most of the 
Group’s bank deposits and cash were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s total current assets and current liabilities were approximately HK$644.1 million (31 
March 2017: approximately HK$638.1 million) and approximately HK$303.3 million (31 March 2017: approximately 
HK$304.0 million) respectively, while the current ratio calculated by dividing the total current assets over the total 
current liabilities was approximately 2.1 times (31 March 2017: approximately 2.1 times).

As at 31 March 2018, the Group recorded interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately HK$66.8 million (as at 
31 March 2017: HK$71.5 million). The interest-bearing bank borrowings were secured, repayable on demand and 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and bore interest at 1.0% (31 March 2017: 1.75%) above the one-month Hong 
Kong Interbank Offered Rate. During the Year, no financial instruments were used for hedging purposes. Details on 
the bank borrowings of the Group are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s gearing ratio, calculated based on the sum of interest-bearing bank borrowings and 
finance lease payables divided by the equity attributable to owners of the Company, was approximately 5.6% (31 
March 2017: approximately 6.2%).

Material acquisitions and disposals
The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associates during the Year.

Use of net proceeds from the Listing
The net proceeds from the global offering of the Company were approximately HK$794.4 million (after deducting 
underwriting fees and related expenses). The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2018 was 
approximately as follows:

Use of net proceeds
Percentage of
net proceeds Net proceeds

Amount
utilised

Amount
remaining

(in HK$ million) (in HK$ million) (in HK$ million)

Opening new restaurants and
 delivery centres and launch of
 catering service in Hong Kong 20% 158.9 (158.9) –
Opening new restaurants in Mainland China 35% 278.0 (278.0) –
Construction of new central kitchen in
 Hong Kong 10% 79.4 (79.4) –
Construction of new central kitchens in
 Shanghai and Southern China 20% 158.9 (108.3) 50.6
Upgrading information technology systems 5% 39.8 (26.1) 13.7
Additional working capital and
 other general corporate purposes 10% 79.4 (79.4) –

     

Total 100% 794.4 730.1 64.3
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Foreign currency risk

The Group’s sales and purchases for the Year were mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The 
Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates of the Renminbi could vary significantly from the 
current or historical exchange rates as a result of the capital controls that could be imposed by the PRC government. 
The exchange rates may also be affected by economic developments and political changes both domestically and 
internationally, and also from the demand and supply of the Renminbi. The appreciation or devaluation of the 
Renminbi against the Hong Kong dollar may have an impact on the Group’s results. The Group will continue to take 
proactive measures and closely monitor its exposure to any currency movements.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had contingent liabilities of approximately HK$9.1 million (31 March 2017: 
approximately HK$8.1 million) in respect of bank guarantees given in favour of landlords in lieu of rental deposits.

Charge on assets

As at 31 March 2018, save as those disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements above, deposits of approximately 
HK$9.1 million (31 March 2017: approximately HK$8.1 million) were pledged for bank guarantee facilities of the 
Group. There was no charge on the Group’s other assets.

Training and continuing development

During the Year, comprehensive training programmes and development initiatives pertaining to operational and 
occupational safety as well as customer services were provided to relevant employees in order to enhance the quality 
of services expected from customer-facing staff as well as to ensure the effective implementation of the Group’s 
business ethos.

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK
Customer satisfaction

In the foreseeable future, the Group will continue to effect its core strategy of prioritising its customers’ dining 
experience by maintaining stringent food safety and diversifying the menu to suit seasonal changes in order to attract 
a broader base of customers whilst ensuring that its signature dishes will continue to be served to the highest quality. 
The Group has always endeavoured to provide high-quality food for its customers in a comfortable and hygienic Cha 
Chaan Teng environment.

Corporate social responsibility

The Group is resolutely committed in adhering to its core corporate values and social responsibilities. The Group has 
strongly encouraged all its employees to partake in the charitable activities organised by and associated with the 
Group such as the Community Chest fundraiser. The Group has also promoted environmental protection initiatives, 
bolstered its green procurement and energy saving policies, and provided customers with friendly reminders to 
reduce food waste. The Group continues to take an unwaveringly proactive role in giving back to the community. For 
example, the Group introduced the “Daydream Scholarship Scheme (白日夢獎學金計劃)”, a scholarship programme 
for students to envisage what Tsui Wah would look like in 50 years to commemorate the Group’s 50th anniversary 
through an art competition.
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Environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) performance

The Group continually reviews its ESG efforts, corporate governance and risk management practices with an aim to 
create and deliver sustainable value to all its key stakeholders. The Group has been exploring more efficient 
opportunities to reduce the consumption of resources in order to reduce its impact on the environment.

Further, the Group has conducted a series of surveys by way of questionnaires with certain key stakeholders covering 
topics from the Group’s environmental and social policies to governance issues. The surveys’ results will serve as a 
solid foundation for the Group’s upcoming ESG report. For more information regarding the Group’s ESG 
performance for the Year, please refer to the Group’s forthcoming ESG report, which can be viewed or downloaded 
from the Company’s official website no later than three months after the publication of the Group’s annual report.

Outlook

The Group will continue to implement its steady and prudent restaurant-opening strategy in Hong Kong, Macau and 
Mainland China. The Group plans to further enhance its market share by exploring the expansion of its restaurant 
network across different regions overseas. The Group will continue to execute its development strategy and closely 
monitor market conditions. To further strengthen its business operations, the Group is committed to the broadening 
of its platform as well as further introducing and developing new brands. 

The Group will further expand the geographical coverage of Tsui Wah Delivery and will implement measures which 
facilitate the improvement of the efficiency of the delivery service in order to provide a more convenient service to its 
customers. In addition, the Group will continue to provide its customers with its five-star catering service under 
Supreme Catering. The Group has been striving to satisfy the needs of its customers by offering Chinese, Western 
and Southeast Asian cuisines for its catering services on various occasions such as weddings, business banquets, 
birthday parties as well as gatherings for family and friends. The Board is confident that the Group will continue to 
explore business opportunities and expand its restaurant network in both Hong Kong, Mainland China and overseas 
by leveraging on the determination and experience of its competent management team and staff.

Having successfully launched the two new self-developed brands, namely Beat Bakery and Nijuuichi Don during the 
Year, the Group will continue to conduct research on the feasibility of developing its brands in the hope of further 
increasing market share and raising revenue generating streams for the Group. In addition, having recently launched 
the first Tsui Wah restaurant with Jumbo in Singapore, the Group will explore other similar opportunities overseas, 
including in Southeast Asia. The Group will closely monitor the macroeconomic environment and continue to seize 
various growth opportunities to boost our brand reputation and maximise returns for shareholders of the Company 
(the “Shareholders”).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lee Yuen Hong (李遠康), aged 63, is the chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Mr. Lee has been an 
executive Director and the chairman of the Board since 29 May 2012, the date of incorporation of the Company. 
Apart from his current directorate in the Company, he also holds directorships in almost all subsidiaries of the 
Company. He is one of the founders of the Group and is primarily responsible for the Group’s overall corporate 
strategies, management and business development. Mr. Lee is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the 
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of the  remuneration committee of the Company (the 
“Remuneration Committee”). Mr. Lee founded the Group in 1989 by acquiring the San Po Kong Tsui Wah 
Restaurant (新蒲崗翠華餐廳). Mr. Lee first joined the restaurant industry in Hong Kong in 1966 and has since served in 
various positions within the industry. He served as cook, chief cook and chef in a number of restaurants from 1973 to 
1989. Mr. Lee has spent over 25 years in the Group since 1989 which, together with his previous positions in other 
restaurants, has allowed him to accumulate over 45 years of experience in the restaurant industry, in particular in the 
Cha Chaan Teng sector. He is currently the honorary chairman of the Association of Coffee and Tea (香港咖啡紅茶協
會), the chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of Restaurants and Related Trades (香港餐飲聯業協會) and a member 
of the Business Facilitation Advisory Committee (方便營商諮詢委員會), the Mandatory Provident Fund Industry 
Schemes Committee (強制性公積金行業計劃委員會), the Quality Tourism Services Sub-Committee (優質旅遊服務小
組委員會), the Catering and Hospitality Services Safety and Health Committee and the Committee of HKTDC 
Mainland Business Advisory Committee (香港貿易發展局內地商貿諮詢委員會), respectively. He also serves as the 
vice-president of the Guangzhou Restaurant & Catering Association (廣州市飲食行業商會) and was appointed as a 
member of the Committee on Reduction of Salt and Sugar in Food (降低食物中鹽和糖委員會) and a council member 
of the Shanghai Cuisine Association (上海市烹飪協會). Mr. Lee completed the Hygiene Supervisor Training Course (衛
生督導員訓練課程) organised by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department in December 2004. Mr. Lee 
obtained his master’s degree in business administration from the Sun Yat-Sen University (中山大學) in China in 
November 2010. Mr. Lee is the father of Mr. Lee Tsz Kin Kenji, an executive Director. In addition, he is a director of 
Cui Fa Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder”).

Mr. Lee Tsz Kin Kenji (李祉鍵), aged 33, is an executive Director. He also holds directorships in almost all subsidiaries 
of the Company. Mr. Lee joined the Group as the marketing and design officer in January 2008. He assumed the 
position as head of the project development department of the Group from early 2010 until the first half of 2015, 
responsible for formulating the development direction and store planning of the Group. In May 2015, Mr. Lee 
became the head of the brand development department of the Group, and was responsible for the Group’s 
corporate development, leasing cooperation and business diversification. He was appointed as an executive Director 
and the business development director of the Group in November 2016 and has been responsible for overseeing 
new business development, project development as well as leasing matters of the Group. In addition, he is a director 
of Cui Fa Limited, a Controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Lee served as the vice-president of the Youth Committee of the Hong Kong Federation of Restaurants & Related 
Trades (香港餐飲聯業協會) in 2014. Mr. Lee graduated from the University of Huddersfield in the United Kingdom 
(“UK”) with a bachelor’s degree majoring in international business. He is an executive member of the Federation of 
Hong Kong Guangxi Community Organisation. Mr. Lee Tsz Kin Kenji is the son of Mr. Lee Yuen Hong, the chairman 
of the Board and an executive Director.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheng Chung Fan (鄭仲勳), aged 37, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Cheng has been a non-executive Director 
since 1 November 2016. Currently, he is the managing director of Sail Global Capital Limited in providing business 
consulting services. Mr. Cheng has assumed positions in various investment and financial advisory companies in Hong 
Kong between July 2009 and August 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in applied science specialising in 
electrical engineering from Queen’s University, Canada in June 2004 and a master’s degree in science specialising in 
engineering enterprise management from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in July 2007.

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (黃志堅), aged 45, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wong is also a member of the audit committee 
of the Company (the “Audit Committee“). Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 5 
November 2012 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director on 1 November 2016. He has approximately 20 
years of experience working in accounting, banking and corporate finance and various international banks and 
companies listed in Hong Kong and the UK.

Mr. Wong has been the chief financial officer of Orient Victory Travel Group Limited (“Orient Victory”) (stock code: 
265) since October 2014. Prior to joining Orient Victory, he held various positions at China Qinfa Group Limited (stock 
code: 866), namely the deputy chief financial officer (from April 2011 to September 2011), the chief financial officer 
(from September 2011 to October 2014), as well as the company secretary and an authorised representative (from 
July 2011 to August 2014). In addition, Mr. Wong has been appointed as a non-executive director of Asiaray Media 
Group Limited (stock code: 1993) since 24 March 2017. The shares of each of the above companies are listed on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor of science in finance from the City University of Hong Kong in December 1996, a 
master’s degree in practising accounting from Monash University, Australia in November 2001 and a master of 
business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2010. Mr. Wong is a fellow member 
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of CPA Australia and a fellow 
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Goh Choo Hwee (吳慈飛), aged 46, has been an independent non-executive Director since 5 November 2012. 
Mr. Goh is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination 
Committee, respectively. Mr. Goh is a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong and has been a practicing solicitor 
since 1997 and is currently a partner of Ma Tang & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience 
in PRC-related corporate and securities practices. Mr. Goh has served as the company secretary and an authorised 
representative of Xinhua News Media Holdings Limited (stock code: 309) since 11 December 2013. Mr. Goh was 
appointed as an independent non-executive director of (i) China Ever Grand Financial Leasing Group Co., Ltd. (stock 
code: 379), since 18 January 2012; and (ii) Huajin International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2738), since 23 March 
2016. He was also an independent non-executive director of Theme International Holdings Limited (stock code: 990) 
from 27 September 2013 to 4 November 2015. The four aforementioned companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. 
Mr. Goh graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1993 with a bachelor’s degree in arts. 
He subsequently obtained a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in June 1995.

Mr. Tang Man Tsz (鄧文慈), aged 47, has been an independent non-executive Director since 1 November 2016. He is 
also a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, respectively. Currently, he is the 
managing director of UNI Consulting (HK) Limited, responsible for providing consulting services to listed companies. 
Mr. Tang has accumulated over 20 years of experience in international investment and corporate banking services. 
He worked for numerous renowned international banking corporations including Merrill Lynch, UBS, Royal Bank of 
Scotland and BNP Paribas, in which he was involved in the provision of bond financing and equity financing services. 
Mr. Tang received a bachelor’s degree in economics from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1994.

Mr. Yim Kwok Man (嚴國文), aged 49, has been an independent non-executive Director since 5 November 2012. He 
is the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Yim has over 20 years of experience in the areas of corporate finance, 
debt and equity capital markets, asset management as well as mergers and acquisitions in Asia, in particular in Hong 
Kong and the PRC. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the UK and a 
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yim is a registered representative of type 4 
regulated activity (advising on securities), type 5 regulated activity (advising on futures contracts) and type 9 regulated 
activity (asset management) with the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. He has served as a managing 
director of Galaxy Asset Management (H.K.) Limited and worked with various international financial institutions and 
investments banks since 1994, including Rabobank International Hong Kong Branch, DBS Asia Capital Limited as well 
as CITIC Capital Markets Holdings Limited. Mr. Yim served as a non-executive director of Eternite International 
Company Limited (currently known as Larry Jewelry International Company Limited), the shares of which are listed on 
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8351), from December 2010 to August 2011. Mr. Yim has also served as a 
non-executive director of Star Properties Group (Cayman Islands) Limited (stock code: 1560) since 4 March 2016. Mr. 
Yim was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Apex Ace Holdings Limited (stock code: 6036) on 15 
February 2018. The issued shares of the two last-mentioned companies are listed on Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange. Mr. Yim graduated with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in 
November 1991. He completed a master of business administration exchange program at the John E. Anderson 
Graduate School of Management, University of California, the United States of America in 1993 and obtained a 
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1994.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Pang Kwing Ho Peter (彭烱豪), aged 59, was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 1 June 
2016. Mr. Pang has been the managing director of Supreme Catering, a business unit of the Company, since its 
establishment.

Mr. Pang has accumulated over 30 years of experience in the food and beverage industry. Over the last 15 years, he 
has been involved in the strategic development and management of private companies engaged in the restaurant 
business. Mr. Pang started his career at Sapporo Beer and subsequently joined Remy Martin Group. He was 
appointed as the regional sales director of the South China Region of the China division of Remy Martin in 1990. In 
1999, Mr. Pang established Chit-Chat in SoHo East, Hong Kong. Throughout the years from 1999 to 2012, Mr. Pang 
operated a chain of restaurants in Hong Kong and was nicknamed by the media as “The Father of SoHo East” in 
2002.

Mr. Yang Dong John (楊東), aged 43, has been appointed as the chief financial officer of the Group since 22 August 
2016 and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting functions and specific financial projects. Mr. 
Yang was the chief financial officer of the Company from 4 June 2012 to 31 December 2015 and assisted in the listing 
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Yang was appointed as the chief executive officer for the PRC in 
March 2014, assisting the Group in the management and development of business in the PRC. He served as the 
company secretary and an authorised representative of the Company from June 2012 to February 2015.

Mr. Yang has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2003 and a non-
practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2011. Mr. Yang has accumulated 
over 17 years of experience in auditing, consolidated accounting, financial management, due diligence investigation, 
compliance auditing and financial auditing. Prior to joining the Group, he was the chief financial officer and company 
secretary of Wedding Banquet Specialist (煌府婚宴專門店). He spent over ten years at KPMG’s Hong Kong and 
Beijing offices, having been engaged in numerous auditing projects involving listed companies on the Stock 
Exchange. Mr. Yang graduated from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1999 with a bachelor’s degree in 
business administration (accountancy) and obtained his master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese 
University of Hong Kong in November 2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance to safeguard the 
interest of its shareholders (the “Shareholders”). The Company has adopted and adhered to the principles in the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange” and the “Listing Rules”, 
respectively). The corporate governance principles of the Company places strong emphasis on an effective board 
with a high level of integrity, proper internal controls, as well as ensuring a high degree of transparency and 
accountability, which not only enhances the corporate value for the Shareholders but also protects the long-term 
sustainability of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year”) and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has 
complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code.

The Board of directors of the Company (the “Directors”, each a “Director”) (the “Board”) periodically reviews and 
continues to enhance the Company’s corporate governance policies to ensure compliance with the code provisions 
of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS
The Board

The Board, led by the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control of the 
Company and is vested with the overall management of the Group’s business. The Board is collectively responsible 
for promoting the success of the Company, by making decisions objectively, having regard to the best interests of 
the Company at all times. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management 
and operation of the Group to the senior management team of the Company. Such responsibilities include 
implementing the decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating day-to-day operations, managing the Group in 
accordance with the strategies and plans as approved by the Board, formulating and monitoring the operation and 
production plans and budgets, as well as supervising and monitoring the control systems. In addition, the Board has 
established Board committees and has delegated various responsibilities to these Board committees as set out in 
their respective terms of reference.

The Board undertakes responsibility for its decision for all major matters of the Company, including the approval and 
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, 
material transactions (in particular those that may involve a conflict of interest), financial information, appointment of 
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

With the assistance of the Company’s company secretary (the “Company Secretary”), the Chairman has sought to 
ensure that all Directors were properly consulted on all major matters relating to the Company. The Directors were 
sufficiently briefed on issues raised during Board meetings and that all relevant information had been received in a 
timely manner. To the extent that any of the Directors required independent professional advice, this would be met 
by the Group, at the Group’s expense, upon the Director having made a request to the Board.
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Board Meetings and General Meeting

During the Year, the Board held five meetings. The attendance record of each Director in respect of the Board 
meetings for the Year as well as the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) for the year ended 31 
March 2017 is set out below:

Name of Director

Number of 
Board

meeting(s)
attended/
eligible to 

attend

AGM
attended/
eligible to

attend

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Yuen Hong (Chairman) (“Mr. Lee”) 4/5 (Note) 1/1
Mr. Lee Tsz Kin Kenji (“Mr. Kenji Lee”) 4/5 (Note) 1/1
Mr. Cheung Yu To (resigned on 1 November 2017) 2/2 0/1

Non-executive Directors (the “NEDs”):
Mr. Cheng Chung Fan 5/5 1/1
Mr. Wong Chi Kin 4/5 1/1
Mr. Cheng Yu Sang (resigned on 2 April 2018) 4/5 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”):
Mr. Goh Choo Hwee 5/5 0/1
Mr. Tang Man Tsz 5/5 1/1
Mr. Yim Kwok Man 5/5 0/1
   

Note: During the Year, the Board held 5 meetings, 4 of those were regular meetings. Another Board meeting was held for the 
connected transaction. As Mr. Lee had material interests in such transaction, he did not attend such Board meeting and did 
not vote on the relevant resolutions. For good corporate governance, Mr. Kenji Lee (the son of Mr. Lee) also did not attend 
this meeting to consider and vote on the relevant resolutions.

During the Year, apart from the Board meetings above, consents and/or approvals of the Board were also obtained 
by way of written resolutions on a number of matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Year, the Chairman was Mr. Lee whilst the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive 
Officer”) was Mr. Pang Kwing Ho Peter. The Company has complied with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, 
which stipulates that the chairman and chief executive should be segregated and should not be performed by the 
same individual. The Chairman provides leadership for the Board, encouraging all Directors to be proactive in their 
contributions to the Company’s affairs and ensures that the Directors act in the best interests of the Company. The 
Chief Executive Officer represents the management of the Company and is mainly responsible for overseeing the 
implementation of the Group’s strategies, business objectives and management policies.
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Board Composition

As at 31 March 2018, the Board comprised of eight Directors, including two executive Directors, three NEDs and 
three INEDs. The current composition of the Board is set out below:

Membership of Board Committee(s)

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee (Chairman) Chairman of the Nomination Committee

Member of the Remuneration Committee
Mr. Kenji Lee N/A
Mr. Cheung Yu To (resigned on 1 November 2017) N/A

NEDs:
Mr. Cheng Chung Fan N/A
Mr. Wong Chi Kin Member of the Audit Committee
Mr. Cheng Yu Sang (resigned on 2 April 2018) N/A

INEDs:
Mr. Goh Choo Hwee Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Nomination Committee

Mr. Yim Kwok Man Chairman of the Audit Committee
Mr. Tang Man Tsz Member of the Remuneration Committee

Member of the Nomination Committee
  

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the business requirements 
and objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent judgement. During the Year, the Board ensured that 
at least one-third of the Board comprised of INEDs and the minimum number of INEDs was three, as required under 
rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. In addition, pursuant to rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Board ensured 
that at least one of the INEDs possessed appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. Mr. Yim Kwok Man is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
in the UK and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Company has received an annual confirmation in writing from each of the INEDs of their independence pursuant 
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board is not aware of any circumstance which would affect the independence 
and exercise of impartial judgment from the INEDs. As such, the Board notes that all the INEDs are independent.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section 
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no family, financial or 
business relationship among the Directors, and in particular, between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

A full list of Directors is available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and is 
disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company from time to time in accordance with the Listing 
Rules.
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Directors’ Liabilities Insurance

During the Year, the Company had arranged for appropriate and adequate insurance cover to protect the Directors 
from legal action arising from the performance of their duties as a Director. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and 
renewed on an annual basis.

Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of Directors

In compliance with the Listing Rules, and in accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles 
of Association”), (i) all NEDs should be appointed for specific terms, (ii) all Directors should be subject to retirement 
by rotation at least once every three years and are eligible for re-election, and (iii) any Director appointed by the 
Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the 
Company and shall be subject to re-election at such meeting.

Continuous Professional Development

In compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, the Company had arranged and funded suitable training for 
all the Directors to partake in continuous professional development. This was conducted by way of in-house training, 
seminars and other appropriate courses to develop and refresh their knowledge and understanding of the Group and 
its business or to update their skills and knowledge with respect to the latest development or changes in the relevant 
statutes, the Listing Rules and corporate governance practices as well as enhancing their awareness on the 
responsibilities for a director of a listed corporation. For example, the Directors and a majority of the members of the 
senior management attended a seminar on certain new Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards delivered by the 
representatives of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditors (the “Independent Auditors”) on 20 March 2018.

A summary of the training received by the Directors for the Year is set out below:

Name of Director

Attending
in-house
training

Attending
seminars

and/or
conferences

Reading
materials

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee (Chairman) 3 3 3

Mr. Kenji Lee 3 3 3

Mr. Cheung Yu To (resigned on 1 November 2017) 3 3 3

NEDs:
Mr. Cheng Chung Fan 3 3 3

Mr. Wong Chi Kin 3 3 3

Mr. Cheng Yu Sang (resigned on 2 April 2018) 3 3 3

INEDs:
Mr. Goh Choo Hwee 3 3 3

Mr. Tang Man Tsz 3 3 3

Mr. Yim Kwok Man 3 3 3
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing the Directors’ securities 
transactions in the listed securities of the Company.

Following the specific enquiries made by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the 
standards as set out in the Model Code for the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee to oversee 
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these Committees has specific written terms of reference setting 
out its duties and authority. The Committees have sufficient resources to execute their requisite duties and enjoy the 
support of management. To the extent that any independent professional advice is required, the Committees have 
access as necessary at the Group’s expense.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board; 
(b) assessing the independence of INEDs; (c) identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of the 
Board and giving adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below); and (d) making 
recommendations to the Board on any proposed change to the Board or selection of individuals nominated for 
directorships, or on appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The current members of the Nomination 
Committee are Mr. Goh Choo Hwee and Mr. Tang Man Tsz, both being INEDs, and Mr. Lee, an executive Director. 
Mr. Lee is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Board adopts a policy which recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in the composition of the Board 
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved through a 
number of factors, including but not limited to knowledge, gender, age, skills, functional expertise, cultural and 
educational background as well as professional experience and qualifications. In reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, 
the Company will also take into account of factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time to 
time as well as the merits and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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After considering the nature of the food and catering industry and the characteristics of the Group’s business model, 
the Nomination Committee has considered that the current composition of the Board maintain an appropriate range 
and reflects the balance of skills, educational background, experience and diversity of perspectives desirable for the 
effective management of the Company. The Nomination Committee will continue to identify qualified candidates 
through merit based selection and candidates will be considered by using objective criteria, with due regard to the 
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its 
continued effectiveness.

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. All members, namely, Mr. Lee (Chairman), Mr. Goh Choo 
Hwee and Mr. Tang Man Tsz attended the meeting.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the respective websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year is summarised as follows: 

1. reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;

2. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

3. made recommendations to the Board on the nomination of Directors for re-election at the AGM; and

4. made recommendations to the Board on the nomination of Directors, with adequate consideration to the Board 
Diversity Policy, for the appointment of new Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (a) evaluating the performance and making 
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure for the remuneration of all of Directors and 
senior management of the Company; (b) establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on 
remuneration; (c) determining specific remuneration packages for all executive Directors and senior management in 
the manner specified in its terms of reference; (d) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of INEDs; (e) reviewing the appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration policy; and (f) reviewing and 
making recommendations to the Board as to the fairness and reasonableness of the terms of any Director’s service 
agreement which is subject to the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting pursuant to the Listing Rules. The 
current members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. Goh Choo Hwee and Mr. Tang Man Tsz, both being 
INEDs, and Mr. Lee, an executive Director. Mr. Goh Choo Hwee is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

For the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held. All members, namely Mr. Goh Choo Hwee (Chairman), 
Mr. Lee and Mr. Tang Man Tsz attended the meeting.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the respective websites of the Company and 
the Stock Exchange.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year summarised as follows: 

1. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors, senior management and 
employees of the Group;

2. reviewed the appropriateness of the remuneration policy; and

3. evaluated the performance of all Directors and senior management of the Group.
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and 
removal of the external auditor, review the financial statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting 
and oversee the internal control procedures of the Company. The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr. 
Goh Choo Hwee and Mr. Yim Kwok Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Kin, a NED. Mr. Yim Kwok Man is the 
chairman of the Audit Committee.

This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

For the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings. All members, namely Mr. Yim Kwok Man (Chairman), Mr. Goh 
Choo Hwee and Mr. Wong Chi Kin attended the meetings.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock 
Exchange.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year is summarised below:

1. reviewed the Group’s annual and interim reports, financial statements and the related results announcements, 
documents and other matters or issues raised by external auditors;

2. reviewed the findings from external auditors;

3. reviewed the independence of the external auditors and engagement of external auditors for annual audit;

4. reviewed the audit plans, internal control plan, the development in accounting standards and its effects on the 
Group, financial reporting and risk management matters;

5. reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience of staff in the Group’s accounting and financial 
reporting function as well as their training programmes and budget;

6. reviewed the changes in accounting policies and practices;

7. approved the current external audit plan, and reviewed and monitored the level of financial control as well as 
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

8. assessed corporate governance compliance.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains and implements comprehensive corporate 
governance practices and procedures. During the Year, the Board:

(1) established and reviewed the corporate governance policies and practices of the Company as well as made 
relevant recommendations;

(2) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 
management of the Group;

(3) reviewed and monitored the policies and practices of the Company to ensure compliance with relevant legal 
and regulatory requirements;

(4) established, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct of Directors and employees of the Group; and

(5) reviewed compliance with the CG Code and made necessary disclosure in the annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in fulfillment of its corporate governance 
responsibilities.

Whistleblowing system

There is a whistleblowing system applicable to all stakeholders including employees, shareholders, customers and 
suppliers. The system allows stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, with the Audit Committee about possible 
improprieties in any matter related to the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management (other 
than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior 
Management” in this annual report by band is set out below:

Band of remuneration (HK$)
Number of 

individual(s)

Below HK$1,500,000 1
Over HK$2,000,000 1
  



26 Tsui Wah Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2018

Corporate  
Governance Report 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
All Directors fully understand their responsibilities in publishing a clear and accurate assessment of the annual and 
interim reports, as well as price-sensitive or inside information and relevant disclosures by way of announcements as 
required under the Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge responsibility for the preparation of the Group’s 
financial statements and confirm the true and fair depiction of the Group’s state of affairs. The Independent Auditor’s 
statement regarding its reporting responsibilities in respect of the financial statements of the Group is set out on 
page 52 of the independent auditor’s report. The Directors, having made the relevant enquiries, confirm that there 
are no material uncertainties relating to events which may affect the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

For the Year, the fees paid or payable to the Independent Auditor are set out as follows:

Fees paid/
payable

HK$’000

Audit service 1,980
Non-audit services:
 Review of interim condensed consolidated financial statements 300
 Tax services 908
  

Total 3,188
  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group, observing the requirements of the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the 
Listing Rules, is upgrading its risk management and internal control systems in accordance with internationally 
recognised standards and principles. The management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring 
of the systems, and the Board, by establishing a risk management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”), 
oversees the systems on an ongoing basis. The Risk Management Committee overseeing the systems ensures that 
the risk management and internal control measures adopted are compatible with the Group’s objectives, strategies 
and risk appetite.

The Board has directed that the effectiveness of the material controls of the systems be regularly reviewed, at least 
annually, and such a review must include financial, operational and compliance controls. The Board, based on reports 
of an annual review of the systems and having considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and 
experience, training programs, has directed that adequate resources be allocated to meet the requirements in such 
respects.

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems adopted by the Group are described as 
below.
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Risk Management System

In common with all business concerns, the Group strives to achieve its objectives amidst uncertainty and has adopted 
as a reference the risk management principles and guidelines under the International Standard ISO31000 to manage 
the effect of such uncertainty on its objectives. The risk management process, developed according to the standard 
as an integral part of the management, and tailored to and embedded in the business practices, comprises the 
following activities and phases.

Communication and consultation

Communication and consultation with stakeholders or risk owners being those in charge of legal entities, functional 
units or business processes are established, developed and exercised at all stages of the risk management process, 
to address issues arising from risks, causes, consequences and measures required to treat the risks.

Establishing the context

Desirable objectives are articulated, external as well as internal parameters are defined, and risk criteria is set in order 
to facilitate the conduction of risk management process.

Risk Assessment

It is the overall process of risk identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation.

(a) Risk identification: through the network of communication and consultation established with stakeholders or risk 
owners, sources of risk, areas of impacts, events or changes in circumstances, causes and consequences are 
identified. Risks so identified are reported and recognised in the risk register to facilitate risk analysis and 
evaluation of their impact on the achievement of objectives.

(b) Risk analysis: an understanding of the risks identified is obtained in order to consider the causes and sources of 
risk, their consequences whether favourable or unfavourable, likelihood, confidence in determining the level of 
risk and sensitivity to preconditions.

(c) Risk evaluation: decision is made based on the outcome of risk analysis, about whether a particular risk needs 
treatment and corresponding priority for treatment implementation.

Risk treatment

Where a decision is made that a particular risk needs treatment, options are developed for modifying the risk by 
providing mitigation or appropriate controls in order to reduce the residual risk to a tolerable level.

(a) Controls that address the key causes and impacts of the risk.

(b) Controls that are designed and implemented consistent with the achievement of the corporate objectives and 
performance parameters.
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Monitoring and review

(a) Management reviews to ensure controls are effective and efficient in both design and operation at least 
annually.

(b) Risk management performance is regularly monitored.

(c) Risks and risk management performance are appropriately communicated to stakeholders or risk owners 
including those in charge of governance and those responsible for the management of legal entities, functional 
units or business processes.

The Board, with the assistance of the Risk Management Committee, evaluates the effectiveness of the systems for 
identifying and managing risks that are material to the achievement of corporate objectives.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system designed and implemented according to the framework and principles 
as advocated by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in 2013. The 
system thus developed allows the Group to achieve efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and 
compliance with laws and regulations. The main components of the framework and the underlying principles that the 
Group observes are as follows:

Control Environment

Sound control environment is established by obtaining commitment at all levels to integrity and ethical values, 
appointing independent board of directors, enacting structures, organisations and processes with clear reporting 
lines, authorities and responsibilities, developing competences, and holding people accountable to internal control.

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment component under the COSO framework complements that under the International Standard 
ISO31000. It emphasises that clear objectives be firstly specified and risks to the achievement of objectives are then 
identified with specific reference to the need for considering potential for fraud and impact of significant internal and 
external changes.

Control Activities

Control activities are selected and developed as part of the treatment of risks identified. Controls are developed 
through policies and procedures, along with information technology controls selected and developed where 
appropriate.

Information and Communication

This component is concerned with establishing internal and external communication to provide the Group with 
quality information needed to carry out day-to-day controls in support of the achievement of its objectives. The 
communication component under the COSO framework and that under the International Standard ISO31000 are two 
sides of the same coin, with the former emphasising on information required to support the achievement of 
objectives and the latter on information required to address issues arising from risks or the impact of uncertainty on 
the achievement of objectives.
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Monitoring

It refers to ongoing and separate evaluations conducted to ascertain whether material controls are appropriately 
developed and functioning effectively. Internal control deficiencies identified are evaluated and communicated to 
appropriate stakeholders.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board through the Risk Management Committee has ongoing oversight of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems. The Risk Management Committee holds regular meetings to review risks recognised in the 
risks register based on information from various stakeholders or risk owners. The Directors are kept regularly apprised 
of significant risks that may impact the Group’s performance.

During the Year, the Board has engaged an external professional consulting firm to review the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems with a view to:

•	 Reviewing	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	the	Group’s	risk	management	and	internal	control	systems	insofar	
as the principal operations as identified are concerned; and

•	 Reporting	on	the	findings	of	the	review	and	recommendations	to	the	Board.

On the findings and recommendations, the Board aims to upgrade the systems and gradually improve its capability 
of risk management and internal control through adopting internationally recognised standards and frameworks as 
summarised above. Accordingly, the Board considers the risk management and internal control systems of the Group 
to be effective and adequate. To ensure the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems are 
maintained, the Board directs that more resources be assigned to develop controls, risk treatments and training in 
alignment with the continuing development of the Group.

Inside Information

Policies, procedures and controls for handling and dissemination of inside information has been set out internally to 
enhance information management of the Group and to ensure the authenticity, accuracy, completeness and 
timeliness of information disclosed to the public while protecting the legitimate rights and interests of the Company 
and its shareholders, creditors and other stakeholders as a whole.

Corporate Governance and Internal Audit

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices are very important for maintaining and promoting 
investor confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. To enhance the quality of corporate governance, 
the Group has, therefore, established an internal audit function and outsourced part of the function to support its 
development needs.

The internal audit function is independent of the Group’s daily operations and facilitates the Board on evaluating the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting interviews and performing tests on 
management and operational controls.

Internal audit work plans are developed and executed with approval of the Board, and with the support of 
experienced external consultants. The internal audit function is accountable to the Board through the Audit 
Committee.
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DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION
The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of 
the laws of Hong Kong and the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be announced 
promptly. The Company has established a policy for the disclosure of inside information (the “Inside Information 
Disclosure Policy”) with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the SFC.

The Inside Information Disclosure Policy includes, among other things:

(a) only designated persons are authorised to communicate the Company’s corporate matters with investors, 
analysts, the media or other members of the investment community;

(b) Directors or senior management shall report to the Chief Executive Officer any potential/suspected inside 
information as soon as practicable for him to consult (if appropriate) the Board thereafter for determining the 
nature of developments and, if required, making appropriate disclosure;

(c) disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner that can provide for equal, timely and effective 
access by the public to the disclosed inside information; and

(d) inside information must be kept strictly confidential until a public announcement is made and shall be 
disseminated in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules before it is released via other means.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
In general, the Board oversees the Company’s strategic development and determines the objectives, strategies and 
policies of the Group. The Board also monitors and controls operating and financial performance and sets 
appropriate policies for risk management in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. The Board delegates the 
implementation of strategies and day-to-day operation of the Group to the management.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Kwok Siu Man (“Mr. Kwok”) is the Company Secretary. Mr. Kwok supports the Board by ensuring that reliable 
and relevant flow of information is maintained amongst members of the Board and that all procedures have been 
adhered to in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Mr. Kwok is a fellow member of each of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Institute of 
Financial Accountants in England, the Institute of Public Accountants in Australia, The Hong Kong Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries, The Association of Hong Kong Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. As Mr. 
Kwok was first appointed as the company secretary of a Hong Kong Hang Seng Index constituent stock company in 
1991 and has been acting in such capacity for a number of other reputable companies listed on the Stock Exchange 
for a substantial amount of time, he was not required to have at least 15 hours of relevant continuous professional 
development training for each of the five consecutive years from 2012. Mr. Kwok had delivered and attended over 15 
hours’ relevant seminars during the Year pursuant to rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Kwok was nominated by Boardroom Corporate Services (HK) Limited (“Boardroom”) to be the Company 
Secretary on 1 September 2016 and since then, Boardroom has been providing certain corporate secretarial services 
to the Company pursuant to an engagement letter entered into between the Company and Boardroom. The primary 
person at the Company with whom Mr. Kwok has been contacting in respect of company secretarial matters is Mr. 
Yang Dong John, the Group’s chief financial officer.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective Communication

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with Shareholders 
and investors of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective communication with the Company’s investors 
is critical in establishing investor confidence and attracting new investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to 
maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure that the Shareholders and investors of the Company will receive 
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information through the publication of annual reports, interim reports, 
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes all corporate communications on its website.

In respect of each matter to be considered at the AGM and extraordinary general meetings, including the re-election 
of Directors, a separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman of the relevant meeting. Voting at general 
meetings of the Company is conducted by way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll results will be 
announced before the conclusion of the general meetings and published on the respective websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company. In addition, the Company regularly meets with institutional investors, financial analysts 
and financial media, and promptly releases information related to any significant progress of the Company, so as to 
promote the development of the Company through mutual and efficient communication.

The Chairman and members of the Board and chairmen of the various Board committees will attend the forthcoming 
AGM to be held on 24 August 2018 to answer questions raised by the Shareholders.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company will invite representatives of the Independent Auditor 
to attend the forthcoming AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions regarding the conduct of the audit, the 
preparation and content of the independent auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Shareholders’ Rights

1. Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the 
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. 
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an 
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such 
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days 
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself 
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a 
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Any requisition to convene an extraordinary general should be lodged at Room 1606–1608, 16/F, Riley House, 
88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong marked for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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2. Procedures for Raising Enquiries

Shareholders may direct their queries regarding their shareholdings, share transfer/registration, payment of 
dividend and change of correspondence address to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor 
Investor Services Limited:

Address : Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Email : is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
Tel : (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 2810 8185

Shareholders may raise enquiries in respect of the Company at the following correspondence address, email 
address and fax number of the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary:

Address : Room 1606–1608, 16/F, Riley House, 88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, 
Hong Kong

Email : ir@tsuiwah.com
Fax : (852) 2541 2908

3. Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

(i) Proposal for election of a person other than a Director as a Director:
Pursuant to article 85 of the Articles of Association, a Shareholder who wishes to propose a person other 
than a retiring Director for election to the office of Director at any general meeting should lodge (i) a 
notice in writing by him/her/it (other than the person to be proposed) of his/her/its intention to propose 
that person for election as a Director; and (ii) a notice in writing by that person of his/her willingness to be 
elected, at either (a) the head office of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 1606–1608, 16/F, Riley House, 
88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, or (b) the registration office of the Company 
in Hong Kong at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. The period for 
lodgement of the notices mentioned above will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of 
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to 
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the 
Company may be given will be at least seven days.

(ii) Other proposals:
If a Shareholder wishes to make other proposals (the “Proposal(s)”) at a general meeting, he/she/it may 
lodge a written request, duly signed, at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 1606–
1608, 16/F, Riley House, 88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong marked for the 
attention of the Company Secretary.

The identity of the Shareholder and his/her/its request will be verified with the Company’s branch share 
registrar in Hong Kong and upon confirmation by the share registrar that the request is proper and in 
order, and is made by a Shareholder, the Board will in its sole discretion decide whether the Proposal may 
be included in the agenda for the general meeting to be set out in the notice of meeting.
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The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for consideration of the Proposal raised by the 
Shareholder concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less than 20 clear business days in writing if the 
Proposal requires approval in an AGM.

(2) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less than 10 clear business days in writing if the 
Proposal requires approval by way of a special resolution in an extraordinary general meeting of the 
Company.

(3) Notice of not less than 14 clear days and not less than 10 clear business days in writing if the 
Proposal requires approval by way of an ordinary resolution in an extraordinary general meeting of 
the Company.

Constitutional Documents

Pursuant to a special resolution of the Shareholders passed on 5 November 2012, the amended and restated 
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the “M&A”) were adopted with effect from the date of the 
Listing. During the Year, there was no change in the M&A.

The M&A are available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present this report together with the audited financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year”).

FAIR REVIEW OF BUSINESS
A fair review of the business of the Group together with a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during 
the Year, the material factors underlying its financial performance as well as the Group’s future business development 
are set forth in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual 
report. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year using financial key performance indicators is set out 
in the Five Year Financial Summary of this annual report. The information relating to the Group’s food quality and 
safety, customers, suppliers, employees, community involvement and environmental protection will be set out in the 
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which can be viewed or downloaded from the Company’s official 
website no later than three months after the publication of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in restaurant 
operation and sale of food. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out in note 1 
to the financial statements.

The listing of and the dealing in the issued ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange” and the “Listing”, respectively) commenced on 26 November 2012 (the 
“Listing Date”).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that may cause a 
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group in the event of a material breach or non-compliance. 
During the Year, there was no material breach or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the 
Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other 
stakeholders in order to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Year, there was no material or significant 
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/other stakeholders.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income on pages 57 and 58 of this annual report. The state of affairs of the Group as at 
31 March 2018 is set out in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 59 and 60. Please also refer to 
the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

CASH FLOW POSITION
The cash flow position of the Group for the Year is set out and analysed in the consolidated statement of cash flows 
on pages 62 and 63 of this annual report.
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DIVIDENDS
An interim dividend of HK2.0 cents (2017: HK2.0 cents) per Share in respect of the Year, totalling HK$28,224,000 (2017: 
HK$28,225,000) was paid on Thursday, 21 December 2017.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2017: HK1.5 
cents) per Share in respect of the Year, totalling HK$21,168,000 (2017: HK$21,168,000) to the shareholders of the 
Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names will appear on the register of members of the Company (the “Register 
of Members”) on Friday, 31 August 2018, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”). If the resolution for the proposed final dividend is passed at the 
forthcoming AGM, the proposed final dividend will be payable on or around Thursday, 13 September 2018.

The Board has also recommended the payment of a special dividend of HK1.5 cents (2017: HK2.0 cents) per Share in 
respect of the Year, totalling HK$21,168,000 (2017: HK$28,225,000) to the Shareholders whose names will appear on 
the Register of Members on Friday, 31 August 2018, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM. If the 
resolution for the proposed special dividend is passed at the AGM, the proposed special dividend will be payable on 
or around Thursday, 13 September 2018.

The Board is not aware of any Shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Together with the interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per Share, and subject to the proposed final dividend and special 
dividend being approved by the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, total dividends for the Year will amount to 
HK5.0 cents per Share.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For AGM

The Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 21 August 2018 to Friday, 24 August 2018 (both days inclusive), 
during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered, for ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend the 
forthcoming AGM which will be held on Friday, 24 August 2018. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 
AGM, non-registered Shareholders must lodge all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 August 
2018.

For dividends

The Register of Members will be closed on Thursday, 30 August 2018 and Friday, 31 August 2018, during which 
period no transfer of Shares will be registered, for ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to receive the proposed 
final dividend and special dividend. In order to be eligible to receive the proposed final dividend and special 
dividend, non-registered Shareholders must lodge all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 29 
August 2018.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 134 of 
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies 
Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$1,413,081,000 (31 March 2017: HK$2,073,144,000). The amount 
of HK$1,413,081,000 (31 March 2017: HK$2,064,723,000) includes the Company’s share premium, contributed surplus 
and retained profits, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend 
is proposed to be distributed, if any, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due 
in the ordinary course of business.

RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 61 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The movements of property, plant and equipment of the Group for the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital as at 31 March 2018 are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 5 November 2012 for the purpose of recognising the 
contribution of certain executives, employees and Directors (who were under full-time employment of the Group) to 
the growth of the Group and/or to the Listing by granting options to them as incentive or reward.

Other than the options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme granted to the grantees (the “Grantee(s)”) on or 
before 7 November 2012, no further options have since been or will be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme. The exercise price per Share was HK$2.27, which was equivalent to the offer price of HK$2.27 per offer Share 
of the Company’s global offering completed in late November 2012. All options granted under the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme on or before 7 November 2012 might be exercised in the following manner:

Grantee(s) Exercise period
Maximum percentage of 
options exercisable

Mr. Lee Yuen Hong
 (“Chairman Lee”) and others

Commencing on the first anniversary 
date  of  the  L i s t ing Date  upon 
fulfillment of certain conditions and 
ending on 25 November 2017

33% of the total number of options 
granted
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Grantee(s) Exercise period
Maximum percentage of 
options exercisable

C o m m e n c i n g  o n  t h e  s e c o n d 
anniversary date of the Listing Date 
upon fulfillment of certain conditions 
and ending on 25 November 2017

33% of the total number of options 
granted

Commencing on the third anniversary 
date  of  the  L i s t ing Date  upon 
fulfillment of certain conditions and 
ending on 25 November 2017

34% of the total number of options 
granted

   

Each Grantee was required to pay HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme.

Options comprising 26,800,054 underlying Shares (2017: 26,800,054 underlying Shares) granted under the Pre-IPO 
Share Option Scheme lapsed on 25 November 2017 and the respective share option reserve of HK$9,421,000 was 
transferred to retained earnings.

Details of the options which were granted, exercised or cancelled or lapsed under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 
during the Year are as follows:

Number of underlying Shares
comprised in options

Grantee(s)(1) Date of grant
Exercisable 
period(1)

Exercise 
price

Balance 
as at 

1 April 
2017

Granted
during

the Year

Exercised
during

the Year

Cancelled or
lapsed
during

the Year

Balance 
as at 

31 March 
2018

Chairman Lee 7 November 2012 26 November 2013 
 to 25 November 2017

HK$2.27 
 per Share

13,200,027 – – 13,200,027 –

7 November 2012 26 November 2015
 to 25 November 2017

HK$2.27
 per Share

13,600,027 – – 13,600,027 –

     

26,800,054 – – 26,800,054 –
     

Notes:

(1) Details of the options exercisable by the Grantee are set out on page 36–37 of this annual report.

(2) As at 31 March 2018, there were no outstanding options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 5 November 2012 for the purpose of giving certain Eligible 
Persons (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and to motivate them to optimise 
their future performance and efficiency and/or to reward them for their past contributions, as well as to attract and 
retain, or otherwise maintain on-going relationships with, such Eligible Persons (defined below) who are significant to 
and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group. “Eligible 
Persons” refer to (i) any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of 
or contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such company (an 
“Affiliate”); or (ii) the trustee of any trust, the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust, the discretionary objects 
of which include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or 
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant, 
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme is 133,333,400 Shares, representing approximately 9.45% of the Company’s issued share capital as at 
the date of this annual report. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon an exercise of the 
options granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person (including exercised and outstanding options) in 
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% (and for an independent non-executive Director (the “INED”) or a 
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective associates (as defined in 
the Listing Rules), 0.1% or the value of HK$5 million) of the Shares in issue from time to time. Any further grant of 
options in excess of the aforesaid limit shall be subject to, among other requirements, the approval from the 
Shareholders in general meetings.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as 
determined by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no minimum period for 
which an option must be held before it can be exercised in general. However, at the time of granting any option, the 
Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including 
(without limitation) those in relation to the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance targets 
to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute discretion. Eligible Persons are required to pay HK$1 and 
submit a duly signed offer letter to the Company as consideration for the grant. The exercise price of the options is 
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the Share on the grant date of the relevant option;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the grant date of the 
relevant option; and

(c) the average of the closing prices of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five 
business days immediately preceding the grant date of the relevant option.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after which no 
further options will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and 
effect in all other respects. All options granted prior to the termination of the Share Option Scheme and not then 
exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Share Option 
Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Since the Listing Date and during the Year, no options were granted by the Board under the Share Option Scheme.

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 28 to the 
financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Yuen Hong (“Chairman Lee”) (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Tsz Kin Kenji (“Mr. Kenji Lee”)
Mr. Cheung Yu To (“Mr. YT Cheung”) (resigned on 1 November 2017)

NEDs:
Mr. Cheng Chung Fan
Mr. Wong Chi Kin
Mr. Cheng Yu Sang (resigned on 2 April 2018)

INEDs:
Mr. Goh Choo Hwee
Mr. Tang Man Tsz
Mr. Yim Kwok Man

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), one-third of the 
Directors will retire by rotation at each AGM. In addition, code provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code 
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules” 
and the “CG Code”, respectively) stipulates that each Director shall retire from office by rotation at least once every 
three years.

Pursuant to article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as 
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer 
himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by 
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons 
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree 
among themselves) be determined by lot.

Accordingly, Mr. Kenji Lee, Mr. Wong Chi Kin and Mr. Goh Choo Hwee will retire by rotation and being eligible have 
offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Friday, 24 August 2018.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual written confirmation of his independence pursuant to 
rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As such, the Company notes that all the INEDs are independent.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are set out on pages 13 to 16 of 
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)), which were required 
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or were 
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Interest in the Shares

Name of Directors Nature of interest
Number of

Shares
Approximate

percentage(5)

Chairman Lee(1, 2 and 3) Interests held jointly with another person; 
 interest in a controlled corporation

878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Mr. Kenji Lee Beneficial interest 136,000 (L) 0.01%
    

(L) denotes long position

Notes:

(1) Pursuant to a deed of confirmation dated 5 November 2012 and entered into by Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. Cheung 
Yue Pui, Mr. YT Cheung and Mr. Cheung Wai Keung (all the latter four individuals being former Directors) (the “Deed of 
Confirmation”), they have agreed to jointly control their respective interests in the Company and decisions as to the business 
and operations of the Group shall be made in accordance with the unanimous consent of all of them.

Each of Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. YT Cheung and Mr. Cheung Wai Keung shall exercise their respective voting 
rights in the Company in the same way. Hence, each of Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. Cheung Yue Pui, Mr. YT Cheung 
and Mr. Cheung Wai Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by them in aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

(2) Options comprising 26,800,054 underlying Shares granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to Chairman Lee lapsed 
on 25 November 2017.

(3) Of the 878,956,000 Shares, 770,092,000 Shares were held by Cui Fa Limited (“Cui Fa”), 65,408,000 Shares were held by Ample 
Favour Limited and 43,456,000 Shares were held by Victor Leap Limited. As at 31 March 2018, Cui Fa was held as to 
approximately 49.90%, 36.12% and 13.98% by Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi and Mr. YT Cheung, respectively and Chairman 
Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. YT Cheung and Mr. Kenji Lee were the directors of Cui Fa. The issued share capital of Ample Favour 
Limited and Victor Leap Limited was held by Mr. Cheung Wai Keung and Mr. Cheung Yue Pui, respectively.

(4) Mr. YT Cheung ceased to be a Director on 1 November 2017.

(5) These percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,411,226,450 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Interest in the shares of Cui Fa Limited — the immediate holding company of the Company

Name of Directors Nature of interest
Approximate

percentage

Chairman Lee(1) Beneficial interest 49.90%
   

Note: By virtue of the Deed of Confirmation, each of Chairman Lee and Mr. YT Cheung is deemed to be interested in the same 
parcel of Shares in which Cui Fa is interested or is deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors, chief executive of the Company or their 
respective associates had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or were 
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or were required 
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in this report above and note 35 to the 
financial statements, at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangements which enable the Directors and the chief executives of the Company to acquire benefits by means of 
an acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or 
their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had 
exercised any such right during the year under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2018, so far as the Directors or chief executive of the Company are aware, the following corporation 
and persons other than a Director or chief executive of the Company had an interest or a short position in the Shares 
and underlying Shares, which were required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV 
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to 
therein, were as follows:

Name of Shareholders Capacity Number of Shares
Approximate
percentage(8)

Ms. Chan Choi Fung(1) Interest of spouse 878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Mr. Ho Ting Chi(2) Interests held jointly with 
another person; interest in
a controlled corporation

878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Mr. YT Cheung(2) Interests held jointly with 
another person; interest in a 
controlled corporation

878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Mr. Cheung Yue Pui(2) Interests held jointly with 
another person; interest
in a controlled corporation

878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Mr. Cheung Wai Keung(2) Interests held jointly with 
another person; interest
in a controlled corporation

878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Ms. Woo Chun Li(3) Interest of spouse 878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Ms. Tai Ngan Har Talia(4) Interest of spouse 878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Ms. Lam Hiu Man(5) Interest of spouse 878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Ms. Lui Ning(6) Interest of spouse 878,956,000 (L) 62.28%

Cui Fa Limited(7) Beneficial interest 770,092,000 (L) 54.57%
    

(L) denotes long position
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Ms. Chan Choi Fung is the wife of Chairman Lee. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan Choi Fung is deemed to be interested in the same 
number of Shares in which Chairman Lee is interested or is deemed to be interested.

(2) Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. Cheung Yue Pui, Mr. YT Cheung and Mr. Cheung 
Wai Keung have agreed to jointly control their respective interests in the Company and decisions as to the business and 
operations of the Group shall be made in accordance with the unanimous consent of all of them. Each of Chairman Lee, Mr. 
Ho Ting Chi, Mr. Cheung Yue Pui, Mr. YT Cheung and Mr. Cheung Wai Keung shall exercise their respective voting rights in 
the Company in the same way. Hence, each of Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. Cheung Yue Pui, Mr. YT Cheung and Mr. 
Cheung Wai Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by them in aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

(3) Ms. Woo Chun Li is the wife of Mr. Cheung Wai Keung. Under the SFO, Ms. Woo Chun Li is deemed to be interested in the 
same number of Shares in which Mr. Cheung Wai Keung is interested or is deemed to be interested.

(4) Ms. Tai Ngan Har Talia is the wife of Mr. Ho Ting Chi. Under the SFO, Ms. Tai Ngan Har Talia is deemed to be interested in 
the same number of Shares in which Mr. Ho Ting Chi is interested or is deemed to be interested.

(5) Ms. Lam Hiu Man is the wife of Mr. Cheung Yue Pui. Under the SFO, Ms. Lam Hiu Man is deemed to be interested in the same 
number of Shares in which Mr. Cheung Yue Pui is interested or is deemed to be interested.

(6) Ms. Lui Ning is the wife of Mr. Cheung Yu To. Under the SFO, Ms. Lui Ning is deemed to be interested in the same number of 
Shares in which Mr. Cheung Yu To is interested or is deemed to be interested.

(7) As at 31 March 2018, Cui Fa Limited was held as to approximately 49.90%, 36.12% and 13.98% by Chairman Lee, Mr. Ho Ting 
Chi and Mr. YT Cheung, respectively.

(8) These percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,411,226,450 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2018.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, so far as is known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, 
there was no other corporation/person other than a Director or chief executive of the Company having an interest or 
a short position in the Shares and underlying Shares, which would be required to be disclosed to the Company 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed on pages 46 to 49 of this annual report and note 35 to the financial statements, no transactions, 
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries or associates was a party and in which any Director or controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing 
Rules) of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”) had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisting at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company. Chairman Lee and Mr. Kenji 
Lee entered into their service agreements for a term of three years, respectively. For Chairman Lee, his service 
agreement commenced on 5 November 2015, and for Mr. Kenji Lee, his service agreement commenced on 1 
November 2016.

Each of the NEDs, namely Mr. Cheng Chung Fan and Mr. Wong Chi Kin, has entered into an appointment letter with 
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 November 2016, and such appointment letters may be 
terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment letters.

Mr. Yim Kwok Man and Mr. Goh Choo Hwee were appointed as INEDs pursuant to their respective letters of 
appointment dated 5 November 2012, for an initial term of three years commencing on the Listing Date, which had 
been renewed for three further years commencing on 5 November 2015. Such appointments may be terminated in 
accordance with the terms of their letters of appointment.

Mr. Tang Man Tsz was appointed as an INED pursuant to his letter of appointment dated 1 November 2016 for a 
term of three years commencing on 1 November 2016.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or any 
member of the Group that is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts, other than a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged under the full-time 
employment of the Company, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of 
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) makes recommendations to the 
Board on the remuneration and other benefits payable by the Company to the Directors. The remuneration of all 
Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their 
remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the 
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
During the Year, the Company did not redeem any of its Shares listed on the Stock Exchange nor did the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such Shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which 
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Schemes” in this report, no equity-linked agreements 
that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that 
will or may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company during the Year or existed at the 
end of such Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be 
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, 
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty 
in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year. The Company has 
arranged for appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the 
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were under 30%. The aggregate 
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers during the Year were 6.3%, 6.2%, 5.6%, 5.5% and 4.9%, 
respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders, which to the 
best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, has any interests in the 
share capital of any of the above five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at 
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float for the issued Shares (i.e. at least 
25% of the issued Shares being held by the public) as required under the Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION
Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of his/its compliance with the non-competition 
undertakings provided to the Company under a deed of non-competition dated 7 November 2012. The INEDs have 
reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the deed of non-competition had 
been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders and duly enforced since the Listing Date and up to the date of 
this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 3.1 to the financial statements.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements of the Group for the Year set out in this annual report, the 
Group did not have any other material subsequent event after the reporting period and up to the date of this annual 
report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(A) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions Subject to Reporting and Announcement 

Requirements

Property lease agreements

Des Voeux Road Central Tsui Wah Restaurant

On 27 March 2015, Joy Express Limited (“Joy Express”) (as landlord) and Tsui Wah Catering Limited, an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as tenant) entered into a lease agreement (the “Lease 
Agreement A”) in respect of the premises of a total saleable floor area of approximately 502.7 sq.m. located at 
G/F and the basement, Cheong K. Building, 84–86 Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong (the “Des 
Voeux Road Central Premises”). Pursuant to the Lease Agreement A, the lease was for a term of three years 
from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2018 and the annual rent for the Year was HK$13,980,000. The annual cap for the 
rent payable by Tsui Wah Catering Limited to Joy Express in respect of the Des Voeux Road Central Premises 
for the Year was HK$13,980,000.

During the Year, the aggregate rent paid by Tsui Wah Catering Limited to Joy Express was HK$13,662,000.

Joy Express is principally engaged in the business of property investment. It is owned as to 40% and 10% by 
Chairman Lee, a Director and Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. YT Cheung, a Director in the last 12 months, respectively, 
and Joy Express is, therefore, an associate of a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

On 22 March 2018, Joy Express (as landlord) and Ever Million Rich Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company (as tenant) entered into a new lease agreement to renew the Lease Agreement A in respect of 
the Des Voeux Road Central Premises for a term of three years from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021. The annual 
rent for each of the years ending 31 March 2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 is HK$13,281,000.

The following sets forth the historical transaction amounts and the proposed annual caps:

For year
2016

(from 1 April
2015 to 31

March 2016)

For year
2017

(from 1 April
2016 to 31

March 2017)

For year
2018

(from 1 April
2017 to 31

March 2018)

For year
2019

(from 1 April
2018 to 31

March 2019)

For year
2020

(from 1 April
2019 to 31

March 2020)

For year
2021

(from 1 April
2020 to 31

March 2021)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Des Voeux Road Central Premises 13,980,000 13,980,000 13,980,000 13,281,000 13,281,000 13,281,000
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(A) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions Subject to Reporting and Announcement 
Requirements (Continued)

Property lease agreements (Continued)

Aberdeen Tsui Wah Restaurant

On 27 March 2015, Champion Stage Limited (“Champion Stage“) (as landlord) and Royal Gold International 
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as tenant) entered into a lease agreement (the 
“Lease Agreement B”) in respect of the premises of a total saleable floor area of approximately 344.76 sq.m. 
located at Shops 1, 2, 3 and 10 on Lower Ground Floor, Comfort Centre, No. 108 Old Main Street, Aberdeen 
and No. 18 Yue Fai Road, Hong Kong (the “Aberdeen Premises”). Pursuant to the Lease Agreement B, the 
lease was for a term of three years from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2018 and the annual rent for the Year was 
HK$2,340,000. The annual cap for the rent payable by Royal Gold International Limited to Champion Stage in 
respect of the Aberdeen Premises for the Year was HK$2,340,000.

During the Year, the aggregate rent paid by Royal Gold International Limited to Champion Stage was 
HK$2,275,000.

Champion Stage is owned as to 50% and 12.5% by Chairman Lee, a Director and Mr. YT Cheung, a Director in 
the last 12 months, respectively, and Champion Stage is, therefore, an associate of a connected person of the 
Company under the Listing Rules.

On 22 March 2018, Champion Stage (as landlord) and Ever Million Rich Limited (as tenant) entered into a new 
lease agreement to renew the Lease Agreement B in respect of the Aberdeen Premises for a term of three 
years from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021. The annual rent for each of the years ending 31 March 2019, 31 March 
2020 and 31 March 2021 is HK$2,223,000.

The following sets forth the historical transaction amounts and the proposed annual caps:

For year
2016

(from 1 April
2015 to 31

March 2016)

For year
2017

(from 1 April
2016 to 31

March 2017)

For year
2018

(from 1 April
2017 to 31

March 2018)

For year
2019

(from 1 April
2018 to 31

March 2019)

For year
2020

(from 1 April
2019 to 31

March 2020)

For year
2021

(from 1 April
2020 to 31

March 2021)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Aberdeen Premises 2,340,000 2,340,000 2,340,000 2,223,000 2,223,000 2,223,000
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(A) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions Subject to Reporting and Announcement 
Requirements (Continued)

Property lease agreements (Continued)

Hung To Road Tsui Wah Restaurant and Catering Services Centre

On 27 March 2015, Success Path Limited (“Success Path”) (as landlord) and Richberg Development Limited, an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as tenant) entered into a lease agreement (the “Lease 
Agreement C”) in respect of the premises of a total saleable floor area of approximately 834.73 sq.m. located 
at G/F, 1/F and 2/F, Tsui Wah Group Centre, 50 Lai Yip Street, Ngau Tau Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Hung 
To Road Premises”). Pursuant to the Lease Agreement C, the lease is for a term of three years from 1 April 
2015 to 31 March 2018 and the annual rent for the Year was HK$3,300,000. The annual cap for the rent payable 
by Richberg Development Limited to Success Path in respect of the Hung To Road Premises for the Year was 
HK$3,300,000.

During the Year, the aggregate rent paid by Richberg Development Limited to Success Path was HK$3,208,000.

On 25 April 2018, Success Path (as landlord) and Ever Million Rich Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company (as tenant) entered into a new lease agreement to renew the Lease Agreement C in respect of 
the Hung To Road Premises for a term of one year from 18 April 2018 to 17 April 2019 and the annual rent for 
the above term is HK$3,135,000. As the Group had continued to use the Hung To Road Premises after the 
expiry of the Lease Agreement C but before the commencement of the new term, i.e. during the period from 1 
to 17 April 2018, the parties to the Lease Agreement C also entered into a confirmation, pursuant to which the 
rental amount for such period had been agreed to be HK$155,833.33, which was calculated by reference to the 
monthly rent amount under the Lease Agreement C on a pro-rata basis.

The following sets forth the historical transaction amounts and the proposed annual caps:

For year
2016

(from 1 April
2015 to 31

March 2016)

For year
2017

(from 1 April
2016 to 31

March 2017)

For year
2018

(from 1 April
2017 to 31

March 2018)

For year
2019

(from 1 April
2018 to 31

March 2019)

For year
2020

(from 1 April
2019 to 31

March 2020)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Hung To Road Premises 3,300,000 3,300,000 3,300,000 3,142,791* 148,042

* Including HK$155,833.33, being the rental for the period from 1 to 17 April 2018

Success Path is owned as to 40% by Chairman Lee, a Director and 30% by Mr. YT Cheung, a Director in the last 
12 months, and Success Path is, therefore, an associate of a connected person of the Company under the 
Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(A) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions Subject to Reporting and Announcement 
Requirements (Continued)

Confirmations from the INEDs and the Independent Auditors

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected transactions for 
the Year and confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(ii) on normal or better commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Independent Auditors were engaged to report on the Company’s continuing connected transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements 
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Independent Auditors have issued their unqualified letter 
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions by the Group 
disclosed above in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Independent Auditors’ letter 
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions have been disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules and are set out in the announcements of the Company, which are available on the respective 
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Confirmations from the Company

The Company has conducted a review of its continuing connected transactions and confirmed that all such 
transactions had complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

(B) Related Party Transactions

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business of the Group for the 
Year are provided under note 35 to the financial statements. None of these related party transactions 
constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed, except 
for those described above in the paragraphs headed “(A) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions 
Subject to Reporting and Announcement Requirements”, in respect of which the disclosure requirements in 
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING
The issued Shares were initially listed on 26 November 2012 on the Stock Exchange. The total net proceeds from the 
Listing which involved the issue of 383,334,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company at HK$2.27 each amounted to 
approximately HK$794.4 million. During the Year, the net proceeds from the Listing were utilised in accordance with 
the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the 
Company dated 14 November 2012 (the “Prospectus”). The balance of such proceeds would be utilised according 
to the use as disclosed in the Prospectus. Details of the use of net proceeds are set out on page 10 of this annual 
report. The Group held the unutilised net proceeds in short-term deposits with licensed institutions in Hong Kong.

DONATIONS
During the Year, charitable donations of HK$51,500 were made by the Group (31 March 2017: HK$90,088).

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Audit Committee was established on 5 November 2012 with specific written terms of reference in compliance 
with rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and code provision C.3 of the CG Code. It is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, and 
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any issues regarding the 
resignation or dismissal of the auditor. The Audit Committee also monitors the integrity of financial statements, 
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared for publication), and reviews material 
financial reporting judgments therein, as well as reviewing the financing control, internal control and risk management 
systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group with senior 
management and discussed the auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters, including the review of the 
draft audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year. The financial statements for the Year have 
been audited by the Independent Auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance 
Report” on pages 17 to 33 of this annual report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Shares.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young, the Independent Auditors, will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to be held on Friday, 24 
August 2018 to seek Shareholders’ approval on the appointment of Ernst & Young as the Independent Auditors until 
the conclusion of the next AGM and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

By order of the Board
Lee Yuen Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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Independent  
Auditor’s Report 

To the members of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 133, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report (continued)
To the members of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Property, plant and equipment impairment assessment
At 31 March 2018, the Group had net unimpaired 
p roper ty ,  p lan t  and  equ ipment  ba lance  o f 
HK$502,671,000 (after accumulated impairment of 
HK$27,777,000), which represented approximately 
32% of the Group’s total  assets.  Impairment 
assessment was conducted for property, plant and 
equipment  o f  loss -mak ing res taurants .  The 
management considers each restaurant as an 
individual cash-generating unit as each restaurant 
generates independent cash flows, which are largely 
independent of the cash flows generated by other 
assets. The Group determines impairment provision 
based on the cash flow forecasts of loss-making 
restaurants. The evaluation process is inherently 
subjective, and dependent on a number of estimates 
such as sales growth rate.

Our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating 
the Group’s policies and procedures in identifying 
impairment indicators and assessing management’s 
significant assumptions adopted, in particular those 
relating to the cash flow forecasts by reviewing the 
Group’s business plan, comparing with market discount 
rate and inflation rate and evaluating the growth rate by 
checking to market data such as forecasted number of 
tourists. Besides, our procedures also included a 
comparison of the cash flow forecasts with historical data 
of the Group.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates 
and disclosure of balance of property, plant and 
equipment are included in notes 3.2 and 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
As at 31 March 2018, deferred tax assets recognised 
by the Group amounted to HK$22,332,000. At the end 
o f  the  repor t ing  per iod ,  the  tax  impact  o f 
unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong and Mainland 
China at applicable tax rates at 31 March 2018 were 
approximately HK$23,053,000 and HK$16,031,000, 
respectively. Significant management judgement is 
involved to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits generated by 
the respective companies in the Group.

Our audit procedures included, among others, reviewing 
of profit forecasts and the Group’s latest tax strategies 
and strategic business plan to ascertain if sufficient taxable 
profits could be generated in the future to utilise the tax 
losses. We discussed with management and assessed the 
profit forecasts and the business plan by comparing the 
key assumptions such as growth rate to market data such 
as tourists growth rate and historical data such as gross 
profit margins and key operating costs.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates 
and disclosures of the recognition of deferred tax 
assets are included in notes 3.2 and 26 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report (continued)
To the members of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report (continued)
To the members of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	 information	of	 the	entities	or	business	
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report (continued)
To the members of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Dilys Chau Suet Fung.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong
28 June 2018
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Consolidated Statement of  
Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 5 1,839,754 1,845,405

Other income and gains 5 12,580 15,277
Cost of inventories sold (512,382) (512,097)
Staff costs (530,965) (531,072)
Depreciation and amortisation (106,456) (110,628)
Property rentals and related expenses (338,537) (315,279)
Fuel and utility expenses (86,465) (90,429)
Selling and distribution expenses (41,761) (30,761)
Other operating expenses (166,740) (172,770)
Finance costs 6 (1,645) (1,559)
Share of profits of joint ventures 17 39,378 31,893
    

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 106,761 127,980

Income tax expense 10 (25,991) (37,282)
    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 80,770 90,698
    

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 80,205 90,483
 Non-controlling interests 565 215
    

80,770 90,698
    

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 
 HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 12

 Basic HK5.68 cents HK6.41 cents
    

 Diluted N/A HK6.41 cents
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Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 80,770 90,698

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
 subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 53,400 (28,914)
Reclassification adjustments for foreign operations deregistered
 during the year (596) –
   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 133,574 61,784
   

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 133,009 61,569
 Non-controlling interests 565 215
   

133,574 61,784
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Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position
31 March 2018

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 502,671 603,690
Investment properties 14 128,704 –
Prepaid land lease payments 15 25,576 67,595
Intangible assets 16 7,521 5,501
Investments in joint ventures 17 68,681 64,497
Prepayments and deposits paid in advance for purchase of 
 property, plant and equipment 66,941 35,377
Non-current deposits 20 99,714 49,052
Deferred tax assets 26 22,332 18,950
    

Total non-current assets 922,140 844,662
    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 18 19,062 18,312
Trade receivables 19 8,134 7,641
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 92,008 98,352
Tax recoverable 5,805 9,048
Pledged time deposits 21 9,102 8,098
Cash and cash equivalents 21 509,987 496,604
    

Total current assets 644,098 638,055
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 22 89,104 77,044
Other payables and accruals 23 141,520 151,303
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 24 66,832 71,485
Finance lease payables 25 196 –
Tax payable 5,614 4,200
    

Total current liabilities 303,266 304,032
    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 340,832 334,023
    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,262,972 1,178,685
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31 March 2018

Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position (continued)

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payable and accruals 23 42,620 17,294
Finance lease payables 25 529 –
Deferred tax liabilities 26 3,808 1,083
    

Total non-current liabilities 46,957 18,377
    

Net assets 1,216,015 1,160,308
    

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Issued capital 27 14,112 14,112
Reserves 29 1,200,293 1,144,901
    

1,214,405 1,159,013

Non-controlling interests 1,610 1,295
    

Total equity 1,216,015 1,160,308
    

Lee Yuen Hong Lee Tsz Kin Kenji
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of  
Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2018

Attributable to owners of the Company
   

Issued
capital

Share
premium
account

Share
option

reserve
Statutory

reserve
Merger
reserve

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve
Retained

profits Total

Non–
controlling

interests
Total

equity
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 29(ii)) (Note 29(i))

At 1 April 2016 14,112 855,973 9,421 11,992 (8,434) (26,853) 313,206 1,169,417 1,080 1,170,497
Profit for the year – – – – – – 90,483 90,483 215 90,698
Other comprehensive loss for the year:
 Exchange differences on translation of 
  foreign operations – – – – – (28,914) – (28,914) – (28,914)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – (28,914) 90,483 61,569 215 61,784
2016 special dividend – – – – – – (22,580) (22,580) – (22,580)
2016 final dividend – – – – – – (21,168) (21,168) – (21,168)
2017 interim dividend 11 – – – – – – (28,225) (28,225) – (28,225)
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – 3,820 – – (3,820) – – –
            

At 31 March 2017 14,112 855,973* 9,421* 15,812* (8,434)* (55,767)* 327,896* 1,159,013 1,295 1,160,308
            

At 1 April 2017 14,112 855,973 9,421 15,812 (8,434) (55,767) 327,896 1,159,013 1,295 1,160,308
Profit for the year – – – – – – 80,205 80,205 565 80,770
Other comprehensive loss for the year:
 Exchange differences on translation of 
  foreign operations – – – – – 53,400 – 53,400 – 53,400
 Reclassification adjustments for foreign
  operators deregistered during the year – – – – – (596) – (596) – (596)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 52,804 80,205 133,009 565 133,574
2017 special dividend 11 – – – – – – (28,225) (28,225) – (28,225)
2017 final dividend 11 – – – – – – (21,168) (21,168) – (21,168)
2018 interim dividend 11 – – – – – – (28,224) (28,224) – (28,224)
Capital injection by non-controlling
 interests – – – – – – – – 250 250
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – (500) (500)
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – 3,358 – – (3,358) – – –
Transfer of reserve funds upon
 deregistration of a subsidiary – – – (269) – – 269 – – –
Transfer of share option reserve upon
 lapse of share options 28 – – (9,421) – – – 9,421 – – –
            

At 31 March 2018 14,112 855,973* –* 18,901* (8,434)* (2,963)* 336,816* 1,214,405 1,610 1,216,015
            

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,200,293,000 (2017: HK$1,144,901,000) in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows
Year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 106,761 127,980
Adjustments for:
 Bank interest income 5 (3,729) (3,292)
 Share of profits of joint ventures (39,378) (31,893)
 Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 7 101,763 107,165
 Depreciation of investment properties 869 –
 Amortisation of land lease payments 7 1,691 1,962
 Amortisation of intangible assets 7 2,133 1,501
 Write-off of items of property, plant and equipment 7 5,008 448
 Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 5 (596) –
 Write-off of prepayments, deposits and other receivables 7 520 3,479
 Finance costs 6 1,645 1,559
    

176,687 208,909

Decrease/(increase) in inventories (750) 4,521
Increase in trade receivables (493) (762)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (45,873) (24,344)
Increase in trade payables 12,060 1,026
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 13,653 (10,198)
    

Cash generated from operations 155,284 179,152

Interest received 3,729 3,292
Interest paid (1,645) (1,559)
Hong Kong profits tax paid (3,044) (24,085)
PRC tax paid (18,066) (15,913)
    

Net cash flows from operating activities 136,258 140,887
    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment 13, 30(a) (91,175) (108,967)
Purchase of intangible assets 16 (4,153) (1,316)
Dividends received from joint ventures 35,181 8,796
Increase in pledged time deposits with original maturity of 
 more than three months (1,004) (4,507)
Decrease in non-pledged time deposits with original 
 maturity of more than three months when acquired – 444
    

Net cash flows used in investing activities (61,151) (105,550)
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Year ended 31 March 2018

Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows (continued)

2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans 66,832 –
Repayment of bank loans (71,485) (5,188)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments 725 (135)
Dividends paid (77,617) (71,973)
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders (500) –
Capital contributions from non-controlling shareholders 250 –
    

Net cash flows used in financing activities (81,795) (77,296)
    

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (6,688) (41,959)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 496,604 546,787
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 20,071 (8,224)
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 509,987 496,604
    

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 21 454,798 365,298
Non-pledged time deposits 21 55,189 131,306
    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
 in the consolidated statement of
 financial position 509,987 496,604
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Notes to  
Financial Statements
31 March 2018

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Tsui Wah Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 29 May 2012 as an exempted company 
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s registered office 
address is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the provision of food catering services through a chain 
of Hong Kong-style restaurants in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “Mainland 
China”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Company name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and business

Issued
ordinary

registered
share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

Kang Wang Holdings Limited 
 (“Kang Wang”) @

康旺控股有限公司

British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”)/

Hong Kong

HK$1,000,000 100 – Investment holding

Cui Xin Holdings Limited (“Cui Xin”) @

翠新控股有限公司

BVI/Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 – Investment holding

Kenglory Limited
維勤有限公司

Hong Kong HK$9,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Happy Oasis Limited
愉園有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Green Wave Limited
綠波有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Tsui Wah Restaurant (Holding) Limited
翠華餐廳（集團）有限公司

Hong Kong HK$9,400 – 100 Restaurant operation

Win Idea Investments Limited
同合投資有限公司

Hong Kong HK$1,400,000 – 99.23 Restaurant operation

Senfield Limited
誠發有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Billioncom (Hong Kong) Limited
富澤（香港）有限公司

Hong Kong HK$100 – 100 Restaurant operation

Sky Oasis (HK) Limited
天澤（香港）有限公司

Hong Kong HK$8 – 100 Restaurant operation
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31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

Company name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and business

Issued
ordinary

registered
share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

Royal Gold International Limited
皇金國際有限公司

Hong Kong HK$8 – 100 Restaurant operation

Tsui Wah Efford Management Limited
翠華怡富管理有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Management service

Dragonsea Limited
游龍有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Food factory

Tsui Wah Catering Limited
翠華飲食有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Shanghai Cai Hua Restaurants 
 Management Company Limited *#@

上海采華餐飲管理有限公司

PRC HK$70,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Shanghai Cui Sheng Restaurants 
 Company Limited *#@

上海翠盛餐飲有限公司

PRC HK$23,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Golden York World Limited
金旭滙有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

China Sure Limited
確華有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Pioneer Ray Limited
領熙有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Special Wise Limited
特維有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Common Way Limited
錦日有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Richberg Development Limited
智庫發展有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)
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31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

Company name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and business

Issued
ordinary

registered
share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

Ever Million Rich Limited
永萬富有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Famous China Enterprise Limited
采華企業有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Owner of trademarks

Flying Gold Limited
翔金有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Happy Billions Limited
逸億有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Summer Rich Limited
夏富有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10 – 100 Restaurant operation

Wuhan Cai Hua Restaurants Management 
 Company Limited**#@

武漢采華餐飲管理有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Green Luck Limited
祥翠有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

New Power Zone Limited
新力天有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

New Top Star Limited
新富星有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Green Treasure Limited
樂翠有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Harmony Garden Limited
和園有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Shanghai Cai Sheng Restaurants 
 Management Company Limited**#@

上海采盛餐飲管理有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)
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Company name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and business

Issued
ordinary

registered
share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

Shanghai Hongkou Cui Sheng
 Restaurants Company Limited**#@

上海虹口翠盛餐飲有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Shanghai Pudong Cui Sheng Restaurants 
 Company Limited**#@

上海浦東翠盛餐飲有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Hangzhou Cui Sheng Restaurants 
 Management Company Limited**#@

杭州翠盛餐飲管理有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Nanjing Cui Sheng Restaurants 
 Management Company Limited**#@

南京翠盛餐飲管理有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Wuxi Cui Sheng Restaurants 
 Management Company Limited**#@

無錫翠盛餐飲管理有限公司

PRC RMB2,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Guangzhou Cai Hua Restaurants 
 Company Limited*#@

廣州采華餐飲有限公司

PRC RMB50,000,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Shanghai He Fa Restaurants Company 
 Limited*#@

上海合發餐飲有限公司

PRC RMB52,000,000 – 100 Food factory

Enrich Sources Limited
彩沃有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Property holding

Corporate Winner Limited
洲永有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Property holding

Shanghai Cai Hua Food Co., Ltd.**#@

上海采華食品有限公司

PRC RMB1,000,000 – 100 Food factory

Marvellous Mark Limited
潤贊有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)
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Company name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and business

Issued
ordinary

registered
share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

Good Core Limited
心園有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Green Skytop Limited
天翠有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 75 Catering service

Time Great Limited
騰嶺有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Excellent Lead Limited
優領有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Mark Lucky Limited
曼新有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Key Decision Limited
智心有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Prospect Green Limited
興翠有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Solar Queen Limited
美憶有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

Wholly Win Limited
加賀有限公司

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Restaurant operation

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the laws of the PRC
** Registered as limited liability companies under the laws of the PRC
# The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by management of the Company to directly 

translate their Chinese names as they do not register any official English names.
@ Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected 
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other 
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These 
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for 
the year ended 31 March 2018. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that 
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date on which  such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest 
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of 
the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of 
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of 
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained 
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 included 
 in Annual Improvements to 
 HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle

Disclosure of interests in Other Entities: 
 Clarification of the Scope of HKFRS 12

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a significant financial effect on these financial statements. 
Disclosure has been made in note 30(b) to the financial statements upon the adoption of amendments to HKAS 
7, which require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in 
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 
effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance 
 Contracts1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
 or Joint Venture4

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement2

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Annual Improvements 
 2014–2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 281

Annual Improvements
 2015–2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 232

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below. 
Of those standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the Group’s financial year ending 31 March 
2019 and are expected to have a significant impact upon adoption. Whilst management has performed a 
detailed assessment of the estimated impacts of these standards, that assessment is based on the information 
currently available to the Group, including expectations of the application of transitional provision options and 
policy choices. The actual impacts upon adoption could be different to those below, depending on additional 
reasonable and supportable information being made available to the Group at the time of applying the 
standards and the transitional provisions and policy options finally adopted.

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016 that address three main areas: the effects of 
vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of 
a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to 
meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and accounting where a 
modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from 
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used to account for vesting conditions 
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The 
amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with net share settlement 
features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its 
entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, 
the amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are 
modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is 
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification. On adoption, entities are 
required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if 
they elect to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt the amendments 
from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial 
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt 
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group will not restate comparative information and will recognise any transition 
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2018. During 2018, the Group has performed a 
detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification 
and measurement and the impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the 
classification and measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all 
financial assets currently held at fair value.

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that 
are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an 
expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply the 
simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the present values 
of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will 
apply the general approach and record twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated based on 
the possible default events on its other receivables within the next twelve months. The Group has 
determined that, due to the unsecured nature of its trade and other receivables. Management is in the 
process of making an assessment of the impact upon application but is not yet in a position to state the 
effect on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of 
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving 
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the 
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. 
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to 
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date 
will be determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. 
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in 
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also 
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total 
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account balances 
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue 
recognition requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective 
adoption is required on the initial application of the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to 
HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying performance obligations, application guidance 
on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also 
intended to help ensure a more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost 
and complexity of applying the standard. The Group has assessed the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 15 and 
does not expect the adoption to have a significant impact to the Group’s results of operations and financial 
position.

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for 
most	 leases.	The	standard	 includes	two	elective	recognition	exemptions	 for	 lessees	—	leases	of	 low-value	
assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make 
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during 
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of 
investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation 
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and 
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the 
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure 
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future 
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

Lesses will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 
rights-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under 
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and 
distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more 
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full 
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether it will 
choose to take advantage of the practical expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs will be 
adopted. As disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, at 31 March 2018, the Group had future minimum 
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately HK$746,961,000. Upon 
adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use 
assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-
value assets and short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into 
before the date of adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify when an entity should transfer property, including 
property under construction or development, into or out of investment property. The amendments state that a 
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and 
there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property 
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to the 
changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first 
applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of property held at the date that it first 
applies the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions that exist at that date. 
Retrospective application is only permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The Group expects to 
adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any 
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when 
applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency 
and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for 
the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or 
income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a 
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of the 
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related item, 
the entity must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. 
Entities may apply the interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, either from the 
beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of the 
prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period 
in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively 
from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements. 

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax 
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax 
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it 
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The 
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the 
assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity 
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) 
how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, 
either fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of 
application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of 
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The interpretation is 
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of 
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the 
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of joint ventures is included 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In 
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group 
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence 
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as 
part of the Group’s investments in joint ventures.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate or vice versa, the retained interest is 
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other 
cases, upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint 
control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is 
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of 
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its 
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for 
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is 
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is 
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and 
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with 
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose 
are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms
Buildings 2% to 3.3%
Leasehold improvements 12.5% to 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 30%
Catering and other equipment 10% to 30%
Motor vehicles 25% to 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, 
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial 
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on 
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the 
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost 
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and 
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in 
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and 
ready for use.

Investment Properties

Investment properties are interests in land and building (including the leasehold interest under an operating 
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental 
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or 
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially 
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The Group’s investment property is rented out under operating lease. The above investment property is 
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the lease term
Building: 2% to 3.3%

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible 
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised 
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses and is amortised 
on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal 
title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is 
capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, 
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance 
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant and 
equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
The finance costs of such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant 
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but 
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted 
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are 
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement 
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable 
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or 
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on 
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the 
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a 
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, 
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits, trade receivables, other 
receivables and deposits and non-current deposits.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in the 
statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 
finance costs for loans and in other operating expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or

•	 the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset,	or	has	assumed	an	obligation	to	
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the 
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a 
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet 
been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment 
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or 
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the 
statement of profit or loss.



83Tsui Wah Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2018

31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, certain accruals, finance lease payables and 
interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out 
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to 
completion and disposal.
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Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts 
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within 
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand and at banks which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries 
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when	the	deferred	tax	liability	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	or	liability	in	a	transaction	that	
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in	respect	of	taxable	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries	and	joint	ventures,	
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when	the	deferred	 tax	asset	 relating	 to	 the	deductible	 temporary	differences	arises	 from	the	 initial	
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in	 respect	of	deductible	temporary	differences	associated	with	 investments	 in	subsidiaries	and	 joint	
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting 
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right 
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, 
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to 
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or 
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a 
reduced depreciation charge.



86 Tsui Wah Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2018

31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from restaurant operations, when catering services have been provided to the customers;

(b) from the sale of food, when the products are sold to customers and the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the food sold;

(c) rental income from properties, in the period in which the properties are let and on the straight-line basis 
over the lease terms; and

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method by applying the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible 
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the 
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as 
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, further 
details of which are given in note 28 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative 
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents 
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date 
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are 
reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated 
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the 
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or 
performance conditions.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not 
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions 
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all 
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to 
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non- 
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award 
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, 
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in 
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings 
per share.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its Hong Kong employees. 
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the 
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets 
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The 
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a 
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries operating in Mainland 
China are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The 
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the 
rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, that is, assets that necessarily take a substantial period 
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The 
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs 
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. 
Proposed final dividend is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 
articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim 
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each 
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities 
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of each reporting period. All differences arising on settlement or 
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair value was measured. The gain or 
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition 
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on the item whose fair value 
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and a joint venture are currencies other than the Hong 
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into 
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of 
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The 
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the 
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in 
the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to 
consider various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements 
in the production and provision of services, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service 
output of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, care and maintenance of the 
asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on 
the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made if 
the estimated useful lives and/or residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are different from 
previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period based on 
changes in circumstances.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of 
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 
March 2018 was HK$203,839,000 (2017: HK$139,671,000). Further details are contained in note 26 to the financial 
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of 
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash- 
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The evaluation process is inherently subjective, and dependent on a number of estimates such as 
sales growth rate. As at 31 March 2018, the non-current assets was HK$899,808,000 (2017: HK$825,712,000). 
Further details are contained in note 13, 14, 15, 16, 17 and 20 to the financial statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of food catering services through a chain of Hong Kong-style 
restaurants. Information reported to the Group’s management for the purpose of resources allocation and 
performance assessment focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are 
integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating 
segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The following tables present revenue from external customers for the year and certain non-current assets 
information as at 31 March 2018, by geographical area.

(a) Revenue from external customers

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong# 1,194,111 1,247,390
Mainland China 624,478 579,262
Others## 21,165 18,753
   

1,839,754 1,845,405
   

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

As no revenue derived from sales to a single customer of the Group has accounted for 10% or more of the 
Group’s total revenue during the year, no information about major customers is presented.

# Revenue from external customers located in Hong Kong includes revenue derived from the sale of food to a joint 
venture of the Group amounting to approximately HK$8,778,000 (2017: approximately HK$8,937,000).

## Represents revenue derived from the sale of food to a joint venture of the Group.

(b) Non-current assets

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 344,692 347,622
Mainland China 397,775 375,140
Others 57,627 53,898
   

800,094 776,660
   

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes non-current 
deposits and deferred tax assets.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents amounts received and receivable from the operation of restaurants and the sale of food, 
net of sales related taxes. An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Restaurant operations 1,809,811 1,817,715
Sale of food 29,943 27,690
   

1,839,754 1,845,405
   

Other income and gains
Bank interest income 3,729 3,292
Rental income 2,530 3,370
Government grants (note) 2,602 5,693
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 596 –
Others 3,123 2,922
   

12,580 15,277
   

Note:

Government grants have been received by the Group from government authorities in Mainland China for financial support to 
the newly set-up enterprises in Shanghai. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

6. FINANCE COSTS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans 1,618 1,556
Interest on finance leases 27 3
   

1,645 1,559
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories sold 512,382 512,097
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 13 101,763 107,165
Depreciation of investment properties 14 869 –
Amortisation of land lease payments 15 1,691 1,962
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 2,133 1,501

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 253,009 244,722
Contingent rents under operating leases 44,318 33,988
    

297,327 278,710
    

Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’ and chief 
 executive’s remuneration (note)):
  Wages and salaries 481,039 475,610
  Retirement benefit scheme contributions* 40,483 45,357
    

521,522 520,967
    

Auditor’s remuneration 2,280 2,530
Write-off of items of property, plant and equipment 13 5,008 448
Write-off of prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 520 3,479
Foreign exchange differences, net (6,600) 2,994
    

* At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the 
pension schemes in future years (2017: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits 
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 2,640 1,878
Other emoluments:
 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,720 7,150
 Performance related bonus@ – 1,000
 Pension scheme contributions 83 77
   

9,443 10,105
   

@ In the prior year, the chief executive of the Company was entitled to bonus payments which was determined with 
reference to the performance of the Group.

During the prior years, a director and the chief executive were granted share options in respect of their services 
to the Group, under the Pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in 
note 28 to the financial statements. The fair value of these options, which has been recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the 
financial statements for the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Yim Kwok Man 180 320
Mr. Wong Chi Kin# – 245
Mr. Goh Choo Hwee 180 320
Mr. Tang Man Tsz* 180 75
   

540 960
   

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year 
(2017: Nil).

# Re-designated from an independent non-executive director to a non-executive director with effect from 1 
November 2016.

* Appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 1 November 2016.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive

Fees

Salaries,
allowances

and benefits
in kind

Pension
scheme

contributions
Total

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2018

Executive directors:
 Mr. Lee Yuen Hong – 1,440 18 1,458
 Mr. Cheung Yu To^ – 840 11 851
 Mr. Lee Tsz Kin – 840 18 858
     

– 3,120 47 3,167

Non-executive directors:
 Mr. Wong Chi Kin 900 – – 900
 Mr. Cheng Chung Fan 180 – – 180
 Mr. Cheng Yu Sang 1,020 – 18 1,038
     

2,100 – 18 2,118

Chief executive:
 Mr. Pang Kwing Ho – 3,600 18 3,618
     

2,100 6,720 83 8,903
     

^ Resigned as the executive director with effect from 1 November 2017.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive (Continued)

Fees

Salaries,
allowances

and benefits
in kind

Performance
related
bonus

Pension
scheme

contributions
Total

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Executive directors:
 Mr. Lee Yuen Hong – 1,440 – 18 1,458
 Mr. Ho Ting Chi@ – 240 – 3 243
 Mr. Cheung Yu To – 1,440 – 18 1,458
 Mr. Cheung Yue Pui^ – 600 – 8 608
 Mr. Lee Tsz Kin# – 350 – 7 357
      

– 4,070 – 54 4,124

Non-executive directors:
 Mr. Ho Ting Chi @ 43 – – 2 45
 Mr. Wong Chi Kin (note 8a) 375 – – – 375
 Mr. Cheng Chung Fan* 75 – – – 75
 Mr. Cheng Yu Sang* 425 – – 7 432
      

918 – – 9 927

Chief executive:
 Mr. Pang Kwing Ho** – 3,080 1,000 14 4,094
      

918 7,150 1,000 77 9,145
      

@ Re-designated from an executive director to a non-executive director on 1 June 2016 and resigned as the non-
executive director on 26 August 2016.

^ Resigned as the executive director on 26 August 2016.
# Appointed as the executive director with effect from 1 November 2016.
* Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 1 November 2016.
** Appointed as the chief executive officer with effect from 1 June 2016.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors and the chief executive (2017: two 
directors and the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the 
remuneration of the remaining two (2017: two) highest paid employees for the year who are neither a director 
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,776 3,103
Pension scheme contributions 27 36
   

2,803 3,139
   

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within 
the following bands is as follows:

2018 2017

Nil to HK$1,500,000 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 1
   

2 2
   

During the prior years, share options were granted to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid 
employees in respect of his services to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note 
28 to the financial statements. The fair value of these options, which has been recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the 
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-director and non-chief executive highest 
paid employee’s remuneration disclosures.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong at a rate of 
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of 
tax prevailing in the locations in which the Group operates.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current	—	Hong	Kong
 Charge for the year 10,890 16,548
 Under/(over)provision in prior years (3,067) 1,471
Current	—	Elsewhere
 Charge for the year 17,653 14,231
 Underprovision in prior years 291 1,002
Deferred tax (note 26) 224 4,030
   

Total tax charge for the year 25,991 37,282
   

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the locations in which 
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and 
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2018
Hong Kong PRC Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Profit before tax 67,755 39,006 106,761
       

Tax at the statutory tax rates 11,180 16.5 9,752 25.0 20,932 19.6
Adjustment in respect of current 
 tax of previous periods (3,067) (4.5) 291 0.8 (2,776) (2.6)
Income not subject to tax (1,568) (2.3) (3,579) (9.2) (5,147) (4.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax 1,355 2.0 446 1.1 1,801 1.7
Temporary differences not 
 recognised 4,133 6.1 570 1.5 4,703 4.4
Tax losses not recognised/utilised 
 from previous periods 5,443 8.0 7,523 19.3 12,966 12.1
Profits attributable to joint 
 ventures (6,488) (9.6) – – (6,488) (6.1)
       

Tax charge at the Group’s 
 effective rates 10,988 16.2 15,003 38.5 25,991 24.3
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2017
Hong Kong PRC Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Profit before tax 82,501 45,479 127,980
       

Tax at the statutory tax rates 13,613 16.5 11,370 25.0 24,983 19.5
Adjustment in respect of current 
 tax of previous periods 1,471 1.8 1,002 2.2 2,473 1.9
Income not subject to tax (311) (0.4) (465) (0.9) (776) (0.6)
Expenses not deductible for tax 1,486 1.8 1,636 3.6 3,122 2.4
Temporary differences not 
 recognised 4,428 5.4 607 1.3 5,035 4.0
Tax losses not recognised/utilised 
 from previous periods 3,727 4.5 3,980 8.7 7,707 6.0
Profits attributable to joint 
 ventures (5,262) (6.4) – – (5,262) (4.1)
       

Tax charge at the Group’s 
 effective rates 19,152 23.2 18,130 39.9 37,282 29.1
       

The share of tax attributable to joint ventures amounting to HK$5,469,000 (2017: HK$4,748,000) for the year 
ended 31 March 2018 is included in “Share of profits of joint ventures” in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.
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11. DIVIDENDS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim	—	HK2.0	cents	(2017:	HK2.0	cents)	per	ordinary	share 28,224 28,225
Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
	 —	HK1.5	cents	(2017:	HK1.5	cents)	per	ordinary	share 21,168 21,168
Special dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
	 —	HK1.5	cents	(2017:	HK2.0	cents)	per	ordinary	share 21,168 28,225
   

70,560 77,618
   

The proposed final and special dividends for the year are subject to the approval of the Company’s 
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 24 August 2018.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
COMPANY
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for the Year is based on the profit for the year of 
HK$80,205,000 (2017: HK$90,483,000) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company and the weighted 
average number of 1,411,226,450 ordinary Shares (2017: 1,411,226,450 ordinary Shares) in issue.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2018. 
Accordingly, there is no diluted earnings per share for the year.

In the prior year, the calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount was based on the profit for the year 
of HK$90,483,000 attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of 
1,411,246,904 ordinary shares in issue in the prior year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture
and

fixtures

Catering
and other

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 March 2018

At 31 March 2017 and 
 1 April 2017:
  Cost 390,341 354,404 82,467 196,774 6,472 296 1,030,754
  Accumulated depreciation and 
   impairment (30,197) (224,116) (38,784) (128,963) (5,004) – (427,064)
        

  Net carrying amount 360,144 130,288 43,683 67,811 1,468 296 603,690
        

At 1 April 2017, net of 
 accumulated depreciation and
 impairment 360,144 130,288 43,683 67,811 1,468 296 603,690
Additions – 29,572 5,049 24,419 874 1,587 61,501
Write-off – (3,198) (275) (1,535) – – (5,008)
Transfers – 775 – 1,139 – (1,914) –
Transfer to investment properties
 (note 14) (73,239) – – – – – (73,239)
Depreciation provided during 
 the year (11,561) (45,890) (7,094) (36,192) (1,026) – (101,763)
Exchange realignment 7,431 4,667 3,626 1,720 15 31 17,490
        

At 31 March 2018, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment 282,775 116,214 44,989 57,362 1,331 – 502,671
        

At 31 March 2018:
 Cost 319,894 387,090 92,217 221,821 7,506 – 1,028,528
 Accumulated depreciation and 
  impairment (37,119) (270,876) (47,228) (164,459) (6,175) – (525,857)
        

 Net carrying amount 282,775 116,214 44,989 57,362 1,331 – 502,671
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture
and

fixtures

Catering
and other

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 March 2017

At 31 March 2016 and 
 1 April 2016:
  Cost 387,693 342,002 69,184 194,835 6,619 7,482 1,007,815
  Accumulated depreciation and 
   impairment (19,408) (200,182) (28,089) (111,945) (4,060) – (363,684)
        

  Net carrying amount 368,285 141,820 41,095 82,890 2,559 7,482 644,131
        

At 1 April 2016, net of 
 accumulated depreciation and
 impairment 368,285 141,820 41,095 82,890 2,559 7,482 644,131
Additions – 39,017 18,679 22,139 – 6,599 86,434
Write-off – (38) (11) (392) (7) – (448)
Transfers 11,500 1,608 114 (3,006) – (13,616) (3,400)
Depreciation provided during 
 the year (11,049) (48,664) (14,566) (31,828) (1,058) – (107,165)
Exchange realignment (8,592) (3,455) (1,628) (1,992) (26) (169) (15,862)
        

At 31 March 2017, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment 360,144 130,288 43,683 67,811 1,468 296 603,690
        

At 31 March 2017:
 Cost 390,341 354,404 82,467 196,774 6,472 296 1,030,754
 Accumulated depreciation and 
  impairment (30,197) (224,116) (38,784) (128,963) (5,004) – (427,064)
        

 Net carrying amount 360,144 130,288 43,683 67,811 1,468 296 603,690
        

At 31 March 2018, certain of the Group’s land and buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately 
HK$205,192,000 (2017: HK$212,710,000) were pledged to secure a mortgage loan granted to the Group (note 
24).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Note HK$’000

At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017
 Cost –
 Accumulated depreciation –
   

 Net carrying amount –
   

Transferred from property, plant and equipment 13 73,239
Transferred from prepaid land lease 15 44,086
Depreciation provided during the year (869)
Exchange realignment 12,248
   

At 31 March 2018, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 128,704
   

At 31 March 2018
 Cost 140,316
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment (11,612)
   

 Net carrying amount 128,704
   

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on page 133.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The aggregate fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2018 is HK$148,797,000 (2017: Nil). 
The fair value has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by Roma Group Limited, an 
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. The fair value was determined based 
on the market comparable approach that reflects recent transactions prices for similar properties, adjusted for 
differences in nature, location and conditions of the properties under review. Each year, the Group appoints 
external valuer to conduct valuation on the Group’s properties, selection criteria include market knowledge, 
reputation, independence and maintenance of professional standards. The Group has adopted the cost model 
under HKAS 40 to account for its investment property, and accordingly, the carrying amounts of the investment 
properties were not adjusted to the revalued amount at year end. Details of the Group’s investment properties 
and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2018 using

Quoted prices
in active
markets

Significant
observalbe

inputs

Significant
 unobservalbe

 inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Industrial properties – – 66,547 66,547
Commercial properties – – 82,250 82,250
     

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment 
properties:

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Commercial properties Market comparison method Adjusted unit price (per square feet)

Industrial properties Market comparison method Adjusted unit price (per square feet)
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 April 69,519 75,795
Recognised during the year (1,691) (1,962)
Transfer to investment properties 14 (44,086) –
Exchange realignment 2,576 (4,314)
    

Carrying amount at 31 March 26,318 69,519
Current portion included in prepayments, deposits
 and other receivables (742) (1,924)
    

Non-current portion 25,576 67,595
    

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

HK$’000

31 March 2018

Cost at 1 April 2017, net of accumulated amortisation 5,501
Additions 4,153
Amortisation provided during the year (2,133)
  

At 31 March 2018 7,521
  

At 31 March 2018:
 Cost 12,224
 Accumulated amortisation (4,703)
  

 Net carrying amount 7,521
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Computer
software
HK$’000

31 March 2017

Cost at 1 April 2016, net of accumulated amortisation 2,286
Additions 1,316
Transfer 3,400
Amortisation provided during the year (1,501)
  

At 31 March 2017 5,501
  

At 31 March 2017:
 Cost 8,072
 Accumulated amortisation (2,571)
  

 Net carrying amount 5,501
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 68,681 64,497
   

Amounts due from the joint ventures included in the Group’s other receivables (note 20) as at 31 March 2018 
totalling HK$17,621,000 (2017: HK$10,984,000) were unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed terms of 
repayment.

Amounts due to the joint venture included in the Group’s other payables (note 23) as at 31 March 2018 totalling 
HK$1,523,000 (2017: HK$1,831,000) were unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed terms of repayment.

The Group’s trade receivable balances with the joint ventures as at 31 March 2018 totalling HK$4,340,000 (2017: 
HK$4,144,000) are disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Group’s material joint venture are as follows:

Name

Particulars
of issued

shares held

Place of
incorporation
and business

Percentage
of ownership

interest
Principal
activities

Pak Tat Catering Management
 Company Limited
百達餐飲管理有限公司

One “quota”
of MOP17,500

Macau 70 Restaurant
operation

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.

Pak Tat Catering Management Company Limited, which is considered a material joint venture of the Group, 
operates restaurant business in Macau and is accounted for using the equity method.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of Pak Tat Catering Management Company 
Limited, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the 
financial statements:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 73,837 91,410
Other current assets 9,778 7,919
   

Total current assets 83,615 99,329
   

Non-current assets 22,829 26,981
   

Current liabilities (24,120) (49,314)
   

Net assets 82,324 76,996
   

Reconciliation to the Group’s investment in the joint venture:
 Proportion of the Group’s ownership 70% 70%
 Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture 57,627 53,898
 Carrying amount of the investment 57,627 53,898
   

Revenue 180,927 156,783
Tax (7,384) (5,814)
Profit for the year 53,890 41,501
Dividend received 33,981 6,796
   

The following table illustrates the financial information of the Group’s joint venture that is not individually 
material:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of the joint venture’s profit for the year 1,655 2,842
Carrying amount of the Group’s investment in the joint venture 11,054 10,599
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18. INVENTORIES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Food and beverage, and other operating items for restaurant operations 19,062 18,312
   

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 8,134 7,641
   

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on cash and smart card settlement, except for well-
established corporate customers for which the credit term is generally 60 days. The Group seeks to maintain 
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly 
by senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade 
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting year, based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than one month 4,101 4,699
One month to two months 4,033 2,942
   

8,134 7,641
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is 
as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 6,488 5,449
Less than one month past due 1,646 2,192
   

8,134 7,641
   

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of customers for whom there was no 
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion 
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables (note 17) were amounts due from the Group’s joint ventures of 
HK$4,340,000 (2017: HK$4,144,000) as at 31 March 2018, which were repayable on credit terms similar to those 
offered to the major customers of the Group.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 42,542 28,336
Deposits 101,218 95,017
Other receivables 30,341 13,067
Amounts due from joint ventures (note 17) 17,621 10,984
   

191,722 147,404
Current portion included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (92,008) (98,352)
   

Non-current portion included in non-current deposits 99,714 49,052
   

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there were write-off of prepayments, deposits and other receivables of 
HK$520,000 (2017: 3,479,000). Except for the above write-off, none of the remaining assets is either past due or 
impaired. Financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent 
history of default.

The Group has pledged time deposits, included in notes 21 and 32 to the financial statements, of HK$9,102,000 
(2017: HK$8,098,000) to secure the Group’s bank guarantee facilities in lieu of rental deposits.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Time deposits 64,291 139,404
Less: Pledged time deposits with original maturity of
   more than three months when acquired 32 (9,102) (8,098)
    

Non-pledge time deposits 55,189 131,306
Cash and bank balances 454,798 365,298
    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in consolidated statement
 of financial position 509,987 496,604
    

Cash and cash equivalent as stated in the consolidated
 statement of cash flows are represented by
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in:
 HK$ 252,383 290,406
 Renminbi (“RMB”) 257,604 206,198
    

509,987 496,604
    

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control 
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange 
business.

All the pledged time deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are 
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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22. TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting year, based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than one month 56,013 51,994
One to two months 33,091 25,050
   

89,104 77,044
   

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and generally have payment terms of 45 days.

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 90,065 84,554
Amount due to a joint venture (note 17) 1,523 1,831
Accruals 92,552 82,212
   

184,140 168,597
Current portion included in other payables and accruals (141,520) (151,303)
   

Non-current portion included in non-current other payables and accruals 42,620 17,294
   

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have average payment terms of one to three months.
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2018 2017
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000

Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000

Current
1 Month 1 Month

Bank	loans	—	secured

Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate

(“HIBOR”)+1.00% On demand 66,832 HIBOR+1.75% On demand 71,485
       

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed into:
Repayment terms of bank loans and overdrafts:
 Within one year or on demand 66,832 71,485
   

The Group’s bank loans are secured by mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings, which had an 
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting year of approximately HK$205,192,000 (2017: 
HK$212,710,000) (note 13).

All the Group’s bank loans as at 31 March 2018 containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current 
liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loans are included within current interest-bearing bank 
borrowings and analysed into bank loans repayable on demand.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the loans are analysed as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans:
 Within one year 4,037 5,087
 In the second year 4,105 5,197
 In the third to fifth years, inclusive 12,759 16,333
 Beyond five years 45,931 44,868
   

66,832 71,485
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25. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES
The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles for its business use. These leases are classified as finance leases 
and have remaining lease terms ranging from three to four years.

At 31 March 2018, the Group’s total future minimum lease payments under finance leases and their present 
values were as follows:

Minimum
lease payments

Present value
of minimum

lease payments

2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable:
 Within one year 232 226
 In the second year 232 213
 In the third to fifth years, inclusive 332 289
   

Total minimum finance lease payments 796 728
 

Future finance charges (71)
  

Total net finance lease payables 725
Portion classified as current liabilities (196)
  

529
  

All the Group’s finance lease payables were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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26. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Others

Depreciation
in excess

of related
depreciation

allowance

Losses 
available for 

offsetting 
against future 
taxable profit Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2016 10,446 12,998 – 23,444

Deferred tax charged to the consolidated statement of 
 profit or loss during the year (note 10) (2,897) (1,053) – (3,950)

Exchange realignment (544) – – (544)
     

At 1 April 2017 7,005 11,945 – 18,950

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the consolidated
 statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10) (613) (445) 3,553 2,495

Exchange realignment 702 – 185 887
     

At 31 March 2018 7,094 11,500 3,738 22,332
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Others

Depreciation
allowance
in excess

of related
depreciation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2016 54 952 1,006

Deferred tax charged to the consolidated statement of 
 profit or loss during the year (note 10) – 80 80

Exchange realignment (3) – (3)
    

At 1 April 2017 51 1,032 1,083

Deferred tax charged to the consolidated 
 statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10) – 2,719 2,719

Exchange realignment 6 – 6
    

At 31 March 2018 57 3,751 3,808
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Certain subsidiaries of the Group have tax losses arising in Hong Kong in total of HK$139,715,000 (2017: 
HK$110,292,000) as at 31 March 2018, that are available indefinitely for offsetting against their future taxable 
profits of those companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in the PRC of 
HK$64,124,000 (2017: HK$29,379,000) that will expire in five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is 
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may 
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the 
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed 
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the 
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland 
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in 
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled 
approximately HK$160,571,000 at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$124,273,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its 
shareholders.

27. ISSUED CAPITAL

Number of
ordinary shares

of HK$0.01 
each

Nominal
value of
ordinary

shares
HK$’000

Authorised:
As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018 10,000,000,000 100,000
    

Issued and fully paid:

As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017, 1 April 2017
 and 31 March 2018 1,411,226,450 14,112
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(a) Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of motivating 
eligible persons to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract 
and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing relationships with such eligible persons whose contributions 
are/will or expected to be beneficial to the Group. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 5 
November 2012 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that 
date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option 
Scheme and any other schemes involving the issue or grant of options or similar rights over shares or 
other securities by the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the 
Company as at the Listing Date (without taking into account the shares which may be issued and allotted 
pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option and the options which may be or have been granted 
under the Pre-IPO share option scheme and the Share Option Scheme) unless shareholders’ approval has 
been obtained.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted 
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not, in aggregate, 
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. No options may be granted 
under any schemes of the Company (including the share option scheme) if this will result in the said 30% 
limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted to or to be 
granted to each eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group 
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of 
the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant of further share options above this limit shall be subject to 
certain requirements provided under the Listing Rules.

Any grant of options to a connected person under the Listing Rules must be approved by all of the 
Company’s independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who 
is a proposed grantee).

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within upon payment of a nominal consideration of 
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the 
directors and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the board 
of directors and notified to each grantee and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a 
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, 
which must be a business day, (ii) an amount equivalent to the average of the closing prices of a share as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding 
the date of grant of the relevant option and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share options were granted during the current and prior years, and no share options were outstanding 
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March 2018.

(b) Pre-IPO share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of 
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s 
operations. Eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, 
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or 
services to the Group, customers of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any non-controlling 
shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 5 
November 2012 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that 
date.

No outstanding share option was noted as at 31 March 2018.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related average exercise prices during 
the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

2018 2017
Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options

HK$ ’000 HK$ ’000
per share per share

At beginning of year 2.27 26,800 2.27 26,800
Expired during the year 2.27 (26,800) – –
     

At end of year – – 2.27 26,800
     

During the year, the share options lapsed due to expiry of exercise period and the respective share option 
reserve of HK$9,421,000 was transferred to retained profits.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(b) Pre-IPO share option scheme (Continued)

In the prior year, the exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at the end 
of the reporting period were as follows:

2017

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
’000 HK$

per share

13,200 2.27 26-11-13 to 25-11-17
13,600 2.27 26-11-15 to 25-11-17

 

26,800
 

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other 
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have any share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO 
Share Option Scheme. In the prior year, the exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the 
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 26,800,054 additional ordinary shares of the 
Company and additional share capital of HK$268,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had nil (2017: 26,800,054) share options 
outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 0% (2017: 1.9%) of the 
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

29. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

(i) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the reserve arising pursuant to the group reorganisation in 2012.

(ii) Statutory reserve

Transfers from retained profits to the statutory reserve were made in accordance with the relevant PRC 
rules and regulations and the articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC, 
and were approved by the respective boards of directors.
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30. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transaction

During the current year, the Group recognised the estimated obligations, included in the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment, of HK$1,890,000 (2017: HK$4,101,000) to dismantle, remove and restore 
certain items of property, plant and equipment in respect of the restaurants under operating leases.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Interest-
bearing bank 

borrowings

Finance 
lease 

payables
HK$’000 HK$’000

At April 2017 71,485 –
New bank loans 66,832 725
Repayment of bank loans (71,485) –
At March 2018 66,832 725
   

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as 
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank guarantees in favour of landlords in lieu of rental deposits 9,095 8,092
   

32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the Group’s bank loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in note 24 to the 
financial statements. The Group’s bank guarantees in lieu of rental deposits are secured by the pledged time 
deposits of the Group and are included in notes 20 and 21 to the financial statements, amounting to 
HK$9,102,000 (2017: HK$8,098,000).
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33. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group leases certain of its restaurants, office premises and warehouses under operating lease 
arrangements. Leases for these properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
falling due as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 249,789 216,650
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 448,141 400,415
After five years 49,031 83,697
   

746,961 700,762
   

In addition, the operating lease rentals for certain restaurants are based on the higher of a fixed rental and a 
contingent rent depending on the sales of these restaurants pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in 
the respective rental agreements. As the future sales of these restaurants could not be reliably determined, the 
relevant contingent rent has not been included above and only the minimum lease commitments have been 
included in the above table.

34. COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 33 above, the Group had the following capital 
commitments at the end of the reporting period.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
 Land and buildings – 8,122
 Leasehold improvements 13,802 2,661
 Intangible assets 4,341 847
   

18,143 11,630
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(i) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the 

following transactions with related parties during the year:

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Sale of food to joint ventures (a) 29,943 27,690

Rental fees paid and payable to:
 Success Path Limited (b) 3,208 3,208
 Champion Stage Limited (b) 2,275 2,275
 Joy Express Limited (b) 13,662 13,592
 Cheermax Limited (c) – 80
    

The transactions were conducted on terms and conditions mutually agreed between the relevant parties. 
The directors are of the opinion that these related party transactions were conducted in the ordinary 
course of business of the Group.

The related party transactions in respect of rental fees above also constitute continuing connected 
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Notes:

(a) The selling prices of food sold to joint ventures were mutually agreed between the parties, which approximated 
market rates.

(b) These related parties are controlled by the current and former directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lee Yuen 
Hong, Mr. Ho Ting Chi, Mr. Cheung Yu To, Mr. Cheung Wai Keung and Mr. Cheung Yue Pui. Mr. Ho Ting Chi, 
Mr. Cheung Yu To, Mr. Cheung Wai Keung and Mr. Cheung Yue Pui are the former directors of the Company. 
The rental fees were determined between the Group and the parties, which approximated market rates.

(c) This related party is controlled by Ms. Chan Choi Fung, the spouse of Mr. Lee Yuen Hong and the rental fee was 
mutually agreed between the parties and approximated market rates.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(ii) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group, including directors’ and the chief executive’s 
remuneration as disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 11,596 13,456
Post-employment benefits 92 126
   

11,688 13,582
   

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, all the financial assets and liabilities of the Group were loans and receivables and 
financial liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments reasonably approximate to fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits, pledged 
time deposits with original maturity of more than three months, trade receivables, trade payables, financial 
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and financial liabilities included in other 
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these 
instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the chief financial officer is responsible for determining the 
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance team 
reports directly to the directors and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team 
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the 
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the directors. The valuation process and results are 
discussed with the directors twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected 
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining 
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March 2018 
was assessed to be insignificant.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

HK$’000 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

As at 31 March 2018
Other payable and accruals
	 —	non-current	portion – 42,620 – 42,620
Finance lease payables
	 —	non-current	portion – 529 – 529

     

– 43,149 – 43,149
     

As at 31 March 2017
Other payable and accruals
	 —	non-current	portion – 17,294 – 17,294
     



126 Tsui Wah Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2018

31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing bank 
borrowings and finance lease payables. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade 
receivables, deposits and other receivables, non-current rental deposits, trade payables, other payables and 
accruals and balances with joint ventures.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 
liquidity risk. The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised 
below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings 
with floating interest rates. The Group operates at a low gearing ratio and as the market interest rates are stable 
and are maintained at a relatively low level, the Group’s interest rate risk is not significant.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Hong Kong dollar interest 
rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate 
borrowings).

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

HK$’000

2018

HK$ 100 (668)
HK$ (100) 668
   

2017

HK$ 100 (715)
HK$ (100) 715
   



127Tsui Wah Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2018

31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars or 
RMB.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 
change in RMB/HK$ exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due 
to changes in fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

Increase/
(decrease)

in profit
before tax

HK$’000

31 March 2018

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB by 5% 4,494
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB by 5% (4,494)

31 March 2017

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB by 5% 2,970
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB by 5% (2,970)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of 
bank borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate 
financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Less than 
one year 

or on demand
Above

one year Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 March 2018

Trade payables 89,104 – 89,104
Financial liabilities included in other 
 payables and accruals 98,230 42,620 140,850
Finance lease payables 232 564 796
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 67,322 – 67,322
Bank guarantees in lieu of rental deposits 9,102 – 9,102
    

263,990 43,184 307,174
    

31 March 2017

Trade payables 77,044 – 77,044
Financial liabilities included in other 
 payables and accruals 108,726 17,294 126,020
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 72,893 – 72,893
Bank guarantees in lieu of rental deposits 8,098 – 8,098
    

266,761 17,294 284,055
    



129Tsui Wah Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2018

31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise the 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to the 
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing 
capital during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing bank 
borrowings plus finance lease payables over capital. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the 
Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 66,832 71,485
Finance lease payables 725 –
   

67,557 71,485
   

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,214,405 1,159,013
   

Gearing ratio 5.6% 6.2%
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 1,202,754 1,202,754
   

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 86 236
Due from subsidiaries 206,231 833,388
Cash and bank balances 90,615 109,779
   

Total current assets 296,932 943,403
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 33 34
Due to subsidiaries 72,460 58,867
   

Total current liabilities 72,493 58,901
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 224,439 884,502
   

Net assets 1,427,193 2,087,256
   

EQUITY
Share capital 14,112 14,112
Reserves (Note) 1,413,081 2,073,144
   

Total equity 1,427,193 2,087,256
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus

Share
option

reserve

Retained
profits/

(accumulated
loss Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2016 855,973 1,200,754 9,421 48,979 2,115,127

Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – 29,990 29,990
2016 special dividend – – – (22,580) (22,580)
2016 final dividend – – – (21,168) (21,168)
2017 interim dividend – – – (28,225) (28,225)
      

At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 855,973 1,200,754 9,421 6,996 2,073,144
      

Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – (582,446) (582,446)
Transfer of share option reserve
 upon lapse of share options – – (9,421) 9,421 –
2017 special dividend (28,225) – – – (28,225)
2017 final dividend (21,168) – – – (21,168)
2018 interim dividend (28,224) – – – (28,224)
      

At 31 March 2018 778,356 1,200,754 – (566,029) 1,413,081
      

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant 
to the reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained 
in the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 3.1 to the financial statements. The amount will either be 
transferred to the share premium account when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should 
the related options expire or be forfeited.
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31 March 2018

Notes to  
Financial Statements (continued)

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. In the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, this presentation would better reflect the financial performance of the 
Group.

41. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 9 March 2018, Kang Wang Holdings Limited (“Kang Wang”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 
entered into a joint venture agreement with Jumbo F&B Services Pte. Ltd. (“Jumbo”), an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Jumbo Group Limited which is listed on the Catalist Board of Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited, in respect of the opening of restaurants in Singapore through the formation of a joint venture 
Vista F&B Services Pte. Ltd (“Vista”). In addition, Tsui Wah International Patent Limited; a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company, and Vista entered into a franchise agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”) in 
relation to setting up and operating Hong Kong styled Cha Chaan Teng restaurant outlet(s) in Singapore under 
the Tsui Wah brand. Pursuant to the Franchise Agreement, Kang Wang and Jumbo subcribed for shares in Vista 
in the proportion of 51% and 49% respectively, and the investment cost of Kang Wang of approximately 
S$255,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,526,000) and the first interest-free loan of approximately 
S$1,275,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,670,000) were settled in cash. The formation of the joint venture 
became effective on 24 April 2018 upon the allotment of shares in Vista.

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2018.
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Particulars of   
Investment Properties
31 March 2018

Investment Properties
Location Use Tenure

Attributable
 interest of
the Group

Rooms 2801, 2802, 2803 and 2805,
No. 15 Huangpu District,
Shanghai, China

Office Long term lease 100%

Building No. 2, No. 3 (1 and 2/F),
518 Shu Hai Lu,
Songjiang District,
Shanghai, China

Industrial Long term lease 100%
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Five-Year  
Financial Summary

A summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the five years ended 31 March 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 
2018 and the consolidated assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group as at 31 March 2014, 2015, 
2016, 2017 and 2018 as extracted from the Company’s published audited financial statements, together with the key 
financial performance indicator of the above period, is set out below.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 March

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 1,839,754 1,845,405 1,867,646 1,801,000 1,473,691
      

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 106,761 127,980 109,633 190,076 189,804

Income tax expense (25,991) (37,282) (37,162) (32,485) (33,761)
      

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 80,770 90,698 72,471 157,591 156,043
      

Profit attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 80,205 90,483 71,675 157,407 156,031
 Non-controlling interests 565 215 796 184 12
      

80,770 90,698 72,471 157,591 156,043
      

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 March

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS 1,566,238 1,482,717 1,505,022 1,564,188 1,449,258
TOTAL LIABILITIES (350,223) (322,409) (334,525) (331,982) (300,244)
      

1,216,015 1,160,308 1,170,497 1,232,206 1,149,014
      

EQUITY:
Equity attributable to owners 
 of the Company 1,214,405 1,159,013 1,169,417 1,231,922 1,148,917
Non-controlling interests 1,610 1,295 1,080 284 97
      

1,216,015 1,160,308 1,170,497 1,232,206 1,149,014
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